
 
 
 
 

TENTATIVE AGENDA & MEETING NOTICE 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

TUESDAY, APRIL 1, 2025 
5:30 P.M. 

WATAUGA COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BUILDING 
COMMISSIONERS’ BOARD ROOM 

 
 

TIME # TOPIC PRESENTER PAGE 
     

5:30 1 CALL REGULAR MEETING TO ORDER   
 2 APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

March 18, 2025, Regular Meeting 
March 18, 2025, Closed Session 

 1 

 3 APPROVAL OF THE APRIL 1, 2025, AGENDA  9 
5:35 4 PUBLIC COMMENT 

    – Will last up to 1-hour dependent on number of speakers 
CHAIRMAN EGGERS 11 

5:40 5 LIBRARY MATTERS 
A. Proposed Proclamation for National Library Week  
B. Library Renovation Report 
C. Proposed Capital Project Ordinance for Library 

Renovation Project 

 
MS. MONICA CARUSO  
MR. JOHN ARNAUD 
MR. DERON GEOUQUE 

 
13 
15 
21 

5:45 6 PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER FOR COMPLEX FENCING REPAIRS MR. ROBERT MARSH 23 
5:50 7 PROPOSED RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF NORTH CAROLINA 

SENATE BILL 248 
MS. AMY SHOOK 27 

5:55 8 EMERGENCY SERVICES MATTERS 
A. Request for Public Safety Radio System Civil, 

Tower, & Construction Work 
B. Hurricane Helene Update 

MR. WILL HOLT  
29 

 
59 

6:00 9 TAX MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATES, INC., BUSINESS PERSONAL 
PROPERTY AUDIT SERVICES CONTRACT 

MR. TYLER RASH 63 

6:05 10 MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
A. Proposed Valle Crucis School Change Order #5 
B. Resolution to Partner with The Town of Boone 

Establishing a Bridge to Link County and Town 
Properties Located at Brookshire Park and Ted 
Mackorell Soccer Complex 

C. Resolution to Approve North Carolina Cashflow 
Loan Agreement and Promissory Note 

D. Proposed Amendment to SDR Contract 
E. Public Hearing Request to Allow Citizen Comment 

on the Potential Repealing of the Fire Appendices 
F. April Meeting Schedule 
G. Announcements 

MR. DERON GEOUQUE  
71 
77 

 
 
 

79 
 

91 
93 

 
139 
141 



 
 

Page 2 
Tuesday, April 1, 2025 

Tentative Agenda & Meeting Notice 
Board of County Commissioners 

 
 

TIME # TOPIC PRESENTER PAGE 
     

6:10 11 BREAK  141 
6:15 12 CLOSED SESSION 

    Attorney/Client Matters per, G. S. 143-318.11(a)(3) 
   Land Acquisition per, G. S. 143-318.11(a)(5)(i) 

 146 

6:45 13 ADJOURN   
 



AGENDA ITEM 2: 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
March 18, 2025, Regular Meeting 
March 18, 2025, Closed Session 
 
 

  

040125 BCC Meeting

1



DRAFT MINUTES 
  

WATAUGA COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
TUESDAY, MARCH 18, 2025 

 
The Watauga County Board of Commissioners held a regular meeting, as scheduled, on Tuesday, 
March 18, 2025, at 5:30 P.M. in the Commissioners’ Board Room located in the Watauga County 
Administration Building, Boone, North Carolina. 
 
Chairman Eggers called the meeting to order at 5:30 P.M.  The following were present: 
 

PRESENT:  Braxton Eggers, Chairman 
Todd Castle, Vice-Chairman 
Emily Greene, Commissioner 

   Tim Hodges, Commissioner 
   Ronnie Marsh, Commissioner 
   Nathan Miller, County Attorney 

Deron Geouque, County Manager 
Anita J. Fogle, Clerk to the Board 

 
Vice-Chairman Castle opened with a prayer and Commissioner Marsh led the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Chairman Eggers presented the February 27 & 28, 2025, special meeting minutes as well as the 
March 4, 2025, regular meeting and closed session minutes. 
 
Commissioner Greene, seconded by Commissioner Hodges, moved to approve the February 27 & 
28, 2025, special meeting minutes as presented. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

 
Commissioner Greene, seconded by Commissioner Hodges, moved to approve the March 4, 2025, 
regular meeting minutes as presented. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

 
Commissioner Greene, seconded by Commissioner Hodges, moved to approve the March 4, 2025, 
closed session minutes as presented. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

040125 BCC Meeting

2



APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Chairman Eggers called for additions and/or corrections to the March 18, 2025, agenda. 
 
Chairman Eggers requested to add a review of County ordinances to Miscellaneous Administrative 
Matters. 
 
County Attorney Miller stated that the Opioid lawsuit would be discussed under Attorney/Client 
Matters in closed session.  Mr. Miller also requested to add Land Acquisition to the closed session 
per, G. S. 143-318.11(a)(5)(i). 
 
Vice-Chairman Castle, seconded by Commissioner Hodges, moved to approve the 
March 18, 2025, agenda as amended. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

The following spoke during public comment: 
 
Ms. Breanna Meehan shares how a distant neighbor had issues with her dog. 
 
Ms. Kathy Parham gave an update on the Children’s Playhouse and thanked the Board for support 
over the years. 
 
Mr. Riley Oates, Public Affairs Specialist, with the Small Business Administration (SBA) Office 
of Disaster Recovery & Resilience, shared opportunities for business owners, homeowners, 
renters, and non-profits to receive help due to storm damage from Hurricane Helene. 
 
Vice-Chairman Castle, seconded by Commissioner Marsh, moved to close public comment. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION EXPRESSING THE APPRECIATION OF THE WATAUGA 

COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS FOR THE ASSISTANCE RENDERED TO 

WATAUGA COUNTY ON SEPTEMBER 27, 2024, AND THE WEEKS FOLLOWING  

Chairman Eggers presented and read a resolution expressing the Board’s appreciation for all of the 
assistance received during, after, and currently from Hurricane Helene. 
 
Commissioner Marsh, seconded by Commissioner Greene, moved to adopt the resolution as 
presented. 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

040125 BCC Meeting

3



LETTER OF SUPPORT FOR FIRE ASSOCIATION 
Mr. Seth Norris, Chair of the Watauga County Fire Commission, presented a joint letter from the 
Watauga County Fire Commission and the Watauga County Firefighters Association, to Senator 
Hise and Representative Pickett requesting support by fully funding the North Carolina Forest 
Service’s budget request.  The full list of NC Forest Service Needs was presented.  The support 
would assist in the mitigation of wildfire risks for our County and the western counties of the state. 
 
Mr. Andrew Harsey, Watauga County Ranger with the North Carolina Forest Service, was also 
present.  Commissioner Castle asked if there was a way for companies to log the timber left from 
Hurricane Helene as it was after Hurricane Hugo.  Mr. Harsey stated that there was a Federal 
program for that; however, there was a shortage of contractors as the timber was not that valuable.  
He did state that there were a few contractors doing that in Watauga County.  Mr. Harsey also 
stated that Watauga County had roughly 30% of timber down due to Hurricane Helene and recent 
wind storms. 
 
Chairman Eggers shared a draft letter addressed to Senator Hise, Representative Hall, and 
Representative Pickett, which also requested support by fully funding the North Carolina Forest 
Service’s budget request. 
 
Commissioner Marsh, seconded by Commissioner Hodges, moved to adopt the letter of support 
as presented.  
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

WATAUGA HERITAGE MUSEUM REPORT  
Ms. Diane Deal, Chairman of the Watauga Heritage Museum, presented an update on the progress 
of the future Watauga Heritage Museum.  Ms. Deal gave a recap to update new Board members 
and stated that they are working toward their set goals.  Mr. Aaron Burleson was developing a 
website for the Museum (www.wataugacountyheritagemuseum.org) which was currently under 
construction.  A social media page would be developed as well.  A total of $23,161 in donations 
have been collected.  The Museum Site Committee was searching for a place to house the museum.  
Ms. Deal stated that the Museum Board wanted to be on the radar for future financial support from 
the County and they were also applying for grants.  The report was given for information only and, 
therefore, no action was required. 

MIDDLE FORK GREENWAY EASEMENT REQUEST 
Ms. Wendy Patoprsty, Middle Fork Greenway, requested the termination of an easement between 
Appalachian Regional and Watauga County which was filed in 2016 with the Register of Deeds 
Office.  The plan was for the County to terminate the easement and the Town of Blowing Rock 
would secure a similar easement from Appalachian Regional and construction would begin for 
that portion of the Middle Fork Greenway.  The easement was for land at the Foley Center which 
has since been annexed into the Town of Blowing Rock. 

040125 BCC Meeting

4

http://www.wataugacountyheritagemuseum.org/


 
County Attorney Miller stated that the easement could not be swapped to a Town but could be 
swapped to a trust or non-profit.  To ensure the easement goes to the Town of Blowing Rock, Mr. 
Miller proposed the Board terminate the current easement with Appalachian Regional Healthcare 
System, (ARHS) Inc., and donate the land back to ARHS so long as ARHS has donated the 
easement to the Town of Blowing Rock. 
 
Vice-Chairman Castle, seconded by Commissioner Marsh, moved to terminate the current 
easement with Appalachian Regional Healthcare System, (ARHS) Inc., and donate the land back 
to ARHS contingent on ARHS donating the easement to the Town of Blowing Rock. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

BID AWARD REQUEST FOR GUY FORD ROAD RIVER ACCESS STORM DAMAGE 
REPAIRS 
Mr. Robert Marsh, Maintenance Director, requested approval to award the bid for repairs at the 
Guy Ford Road River Access to Estate Maintenance Company in the amount of $54,625.  Mr. 
Marsh stated that staff advertised the repair project in a Request for Bids, which was published on 
the County website.  It was reposted after enough bids were not received.  The following three 
bids, all from Boone, NC, companies were then received on March 11, 2025: 
 
 BIDDER AMOUNT 

Estate Maintenance Company $54,625 
Darren Moretz Backhoe Service $61,595 
Greene Construction, Inc. $69,845 

 
Commissioner Hodges, seconded by Commissioner Greene, moved to accept the bid from Estate 
Maintenance Company in the amount of $54,625 for repairs at the Guy Ford Road River Access. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

HUMAN SERVICES ACCESS CONTROL SYSTEM REQUEST 
Mr. Drew Eggers, IT Director, requested approval of a quote from Freedom ElecTech in the 
amount of $27,709 for upgrading the access control (security system for doors) at the Human 
Services Building.  Freedom ElecTech provides access control to other County facilities.   
 
Commissioner Marsh, seconded by Vice-Chairman Castle, moved to approve the quote from 
Freedom ElecTech in the amount of $27,709 for upgrading the access control (security system for 
doors) at the Human Services Building. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

040125 BCC Meeting

5



TAX MATTERS 
A. Monthly Collections Report 

County Manager Geouque, on behalf of Mr. Tyler Rash, Tax Administrator, presented the Tax 
Collections Report for the month of February 2025.  The report was presented for information only 
and, therefore, no action was required. 
 

B. Refunds and Releases 

County Manager Geouque, on behalf of Mr. Tyler Rash, Tax Administrator, presented the Refunds 
and Releases Report for February 2025 for Board approval: 
 

TO BE TYPED IN MINUTE BOOK 
 
County Attorney Miller stated that American Towers, Inc., on the releases list was a carrier for 
Verizon and AT&T and there were questions about whether it was a utility.  County Manager 
Geouque stated that they could be removed and added to a future refund and releases list, if 
appropriate. 
 
Commissioner Marsh, seconded by Commissioner Hodges, moved to approve the Refunds and 
Releases Report for February 2025 excluding all American Towers, Inc. listings. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
A. Boards and Commissions 

County Manager presented the following: 
 
Workforce Development Board 
 

Ms. Misty Bishop-Price, Director of High Country Council of Governments Workforce 
Development Board, has requested the reappointment of Ms. Tara Brossa for a two-year term 
ending on June 30, 2027.  This was the second reading. 
 
Commissioner Hodges, seconded by Commissioner Marsh, moved to reappoint Ms. Tara Brossa 
for a two-year term, ending on June 30, 2027, to the High Country Council of Governments 
Workforce Development Board. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

 
 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

6



Social Services Advisory Board 
 

The Social Services Advisory Board has recommended the appointment of Ms. Tiffany Williams 
who will fill the seat held by Ms. Mary Smalling.  The term is for four years.  This was the second 
reading. 
 
Commissioner Greene, seconded by Commissioner Marsh, moved to appoint Ms. Tiffany 
Williams to the Social Services Advisory Board for a four-year term. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

 
B. County Ordinance Review 

Chairman Eggers and Vice-Chairman Castle suggested directing the Planning Board to review all 
County Ordinances to ensure continuity and equitability for residential housing.  
 
Vice-Chairman Castle, seconded by Chairman Eggers, moved to direct the Planning Board to 
review all County Ordinances to ensure continuity and equitability for residential housing. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

 
C. Announcements 

County Manager Geouque announced the following: 
 

• The UNC School of Government will present an Ethics for Elected Officials course via 
Zoom on Thursday, May 22, 2025, from 10:00 A.M. to 12:00 P.M.  The course will be live 
and will be broadcast in the Commissioners’ Board Room.  The course is required to be 
taken by all Commissioners by December 2025.  A group registration will be done for 
those who plan to attend in the Board Room and separate registrations will be done for 
those who will need to view it from a different location.  Please let Anita know if you can 
attend.   

 

• The North Carolina Association of County Commissioners will hold a District 14 Meeting 
on April 24, 2025, from 5:30 P.M. to 7:30 P.M. at the Avery Community Center.  
Commissioners are invited to attend.  The deadline to RSVP is April 1, 2025.  Please let 
Anita know if you plan to attend and she will assist with registration. 
 

• At the April 1, 2025, meeting consideration will be given to cancel the second meeting in 
April. 
 

Chairman Eggers asked if there were Commissioner Comments. 
 
Vice-Chairman Castle stated that a meeting was held at the old Valle Crucis School earlier in the 
day with Senator Ted Budd who toured the Hurricane Helene damaged school.  Mr. Castle 
encouraged other elected officials to see Hurricane damage in person.  Commissioner Greene 

040125 BCC Meeting

7



asked how many schools in the state were a complete loss and the answer was that Valle Crucis 
was the only one.  Commissioner Marsh thanked past Commissioners for the foresight to construct 
a new Valle Crucis School.   
 
Chairman Eggers stated that Senate Bill 220, “A Bill to be Entitled An Act to Revise the Laws 
Pertaining to Trespass Upon Property to Hunt, Fish, or Trap, as Recommended by the Wildlife 
Resources Commission” has been filed.  Mr. Eggers stated that Section 4 “Any person who 
willfully launches any motorized or unmotorized watercraft from the right-of-way of a public 
highway or street into a body of water adjacent to the right-of-way, except in public areas 
designated for boating access, is guilty of a Class 3 misdemeanor." would not be good in Watauga 
County.  Chairman Eggers encouraged conversations and calls that would help have Watauga 
County removed from the Bill. 

CLOSED SESSION 
At 6:27 P.M., Commissioner Marsh, seconded by Commissioner Greene, moved to enter Closed 
Session to discuss Attorney/Client Matters, per G. S. 143-318.11(a)(3), Land Acquisition, per G. 
S. 143-318.11(a)(5)(i), and Personnel Matters, per G. S. 143-318.11(a)(6). 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

 
Vice-Chairman Castle, seconded by Commissioner Hodges, moved to resume the open meeting at 
8:50 P.M. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

ADJOURN 
Vice-Chairman Castle, seconded by Chairman Eggers, moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:50 P.M. 
 

VOTE: Aye-5 
 Nay-0 

 
 
Braxton Eggers, Chairman 
 
ATTEST:  Anita J. Fogle, Clerk to the Board 
 
 
 

 

040125 BCC Meeting

8



AGENDA ITEM 3: 

APPROVAL OF THE APRIL 1, 2025, AGENDA 
 
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

9



Blank Page 
 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

10



AGENDA ITEM 4: 

PUBLIC COMMENT  

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Public Comment will last up to 1-hour dependent upon the number of speakers. 
 

 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

11



Blank Page 
 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

12



AGENDA ITEM 5: 

LIBRARY MATTERS 
A. Proposed Proclamation for National Library Week 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Monica Caruso, Watauga County Library, will present a Proclamation for National Library Week. 
 
Board action is required to adopt the proclamation as presented.   
 
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

13



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
 

COUNTY OF WATAUGA  
 

National Library Week 2025 Proclamation 
 

WHEREAS, libraries spark creativity, fuel imagination, and inspire lifelong learning, 
offering a space where individuals of all ages can explore new ideas and be drawn to new 
possibilities; and 

 

WHEREAS, libraries serve as vibrant community hubs, connecting people with knowledge, 
technology, and resources while fostering civic engagement, critical thinking, and lifelong 
learning; and 

 

WHEREAS, libraries provide free and equitable access to books, digital tools, and 
innovative programming, ensuring that all individuals—regardless of background—have the 
support they need to learn, connect, and thrive; and 

 

WHEREAS, libraries partner with schools, businesses, and organizations, connecting the 
dots to maximize resources, increase efficiency, and expand access to essential services, 
strengthening the entire community; and 

 

WHEREAS, libraries empower job seekers, entrepreneurs, and lifelong learners by 
providing access to resources, training, and opportunities that support career growth and 
economic success; and 

 

WHEREAS, libraries nurture young minds through story times, STEAM programs, and 
literacy initiatives, fostering curiosity and a love of learning that lasts a lifetime; and 

 

WHEREAS, libraries protect the right to read, think, and explore without censorship, 
standing as champions of intellectual freedom and free expression; and 

 

WHEREAS, dedicated librarians and library workers provide welcoming spaces that inspire 
discovery, collaboration, and creativity for all; and 

 

WHEREAS, libraries, librarians, and library workers across the country are joining together 
to celebrate National Library Week under the theme “Drawn to the Library.”  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it proclaimed that the Watauga County Board of Commissioners, 
proclaim April 6–12, 2025, as “National Library Week” and during this week, the Board 
encourages all residents to visit their library, explore its resources, and celebrate all the ways that 
the library draws us together as a community.  

 

ADOPTED this the 1st day of April, 2025. 

 
_________________________________ 
Braxton Eggers, Chairman 
Board of Commissioners 
 

ATTEST: 
 

_________________________ 
Anita J. Fogle 
Clerk to the Board 

040125 BCC Meeting

14



AGENDA ITEM 5: 

LIBRARY MATTERS 
B. Library Renovation Report 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Mr. John Arnaud, Architect, will present the plan for the renovation to the Watauga County 
Library.  At this time, staff is unsure if there will be any formal request to the Board for action.    
 
 
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

15



John Arnaud

Architect

Meeting Rooms at Main Street

As our community has grown the needs of the library have evolved.  The library increasingly serves as a community 

resource center offering places to meet, access to technology, a safe space for children to learn, and a repository for 

traditional media.  Overcrowding and dated layout present challenges to patrons and staff.  Regrettably, the staff has 

to deny requests from 10-15 groups per month for use of the current single meeting room.  Sight lines from 

departments and service desks are limited and wayfinding for new patrons is difficult.  

Rethinking the existing layout and anchoring a library ‘Main Street’ between the circulation desk and new conference 

rooms will offer the community additional places to meet, easy wayfinding between the library’s resources, and 

improve ability of staff to interact and monitor activities throughout the facility.

Main St. to Meeting Rooms Main St. to Patio

Main Street

Community Meeting 

Rooms

Improved Access to Patio

Youth Services

Digital Services

Digital Watauga

Main St. from Meeting Rooms

040125 BCC Meeting

16



John Arnaud

Architect

Expanded Service Desk

Technology Hub and Workspace

Resource Computers

Our Adult Services staff manages resources that range from access to technology, to Spanish language materials,

genealogy, local history and beyond. As the needs of the community have shifted to the digital, the nearly 30-year-

old facility has fallen behind. Resource computers are frequently occupied and unavailable; limited power leaves

patrons unplugging library equipment. A service desk built to serve a community a fraction the size of ours is

frequently overwhelmed.

Increasing the footprint of the department, quantity of computer stations, reach of the service desk, and

infrastructure for innovative technologies will allow our ‘Digital’ Adult Services to collaborate with schools,

businesses, entrepreneurs and the community as a hub of technology and digital literacy.

Technology HubResource Computers

Adult Services 

040125 BCC Meeting

17



John Arnaud

Architect

Digital Watauga 

Office

Digital Watauga 

cataloging space and 

display

Adult Service Office

Watauga County’s Appalachian community has a history we are proud to preserve and share. Our library is home to

Digital Watauga, a collaboration between the non-profit Watauga Historical Society and the library. Currently, the

Adult Services team shares an office with Digital Watauga, supervises their materials, and shares patron facing space

and equipment with the cataloging team.

Reconfiguring the existing shared office and study rooms will give both Adult Services and Digital Watauga private

spaces to work and sightline to their unique departments. Locating local history media near Digital Watauga will

allow volunteers and proud Appalachians a place to quietly learn about and celebrate their heritage.

Digital Watauga Office + DisplayDigital Watauga Workspace + Reading

040125 BCC Meeting

18



John Arnaud

Architect

New Story 

Time Area
New Youth 

Service Desk

Our youth services and programs are viewed by many in the county as our most essential. The library is where

parents bring their children and teens to gather, share stories, and learn through books and technology. As the

number of children served has grown with the community the existing configuration of the youth services

department has become inadequate.

Restructuring our story area to create a flexible and technology friendly place will allow our team to better manage

events with participation that varies with the seasons. Relocating youth computers and the service desk will allow

staff to better respond to patron needs. Implementation of a sound masking system will help the facility manage, but

not lose the joy of youthful excitement. A reimagining of the story area into the new ‘Story Stacks’ will create a place

for story time to serve groups of varying sizes and incorporate technology without interfering with the library’s other

offerings.

Youth Service Desk Youth Service Story Stacks

Youth Services

040125 BCC Meeting

19



John Arnaud

Architect

A vibrant, growing community requires constant attention and service. As our services have grown, the need for

uninterrupted work spaces has increased. Reconfiguring our staff spaces will allow our staff and volunteers to

work more efficiently in dedicated spaces with dedicated storage.

Reconfiguring the east workroom will allow Youth Services to work in a dedicated office. Technical Services will

gain a private office with dedicated storage space. An IT closet and desk to share with the regional library’s

‘floating’ IT manager. The main workroom will be updated to create a dedicated Circulation Office that is

separated from the bustle of main workroom. The reconfiguration will allow additional cabinet storage

and work counter to be added. The local Friends of the Library, that work tirelessly to support operations,

will gain a small dedicated space for them to collect and sort donations on an ongoing basis without

interfering with staff activities or egress through the back door.

The Youth Services office, 

workroom, and dedicated 

storage adjacent to 

service desk.

Technical Service in private 

office with dedicated 

closets and shared desk for 

regional IT personnel.

Friends of Library 

sorting and office.

Staff Workroom Reconfiguration 

creates private office for circulation 

staff and additional workroom 

counter and storage

Circulation Desk Extension 

to create space for holds 

and future self-service 

expansion.

040125 BCC Meeting

20



AGENDA ITEM 5: 

LIBRARY MATTERS 
C. Proposed Capital Project Ordinance for Library Renovation Project 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
The County Manager will present a project ordinance for the establishment and maintenance of 
funds for the Library Renovation Project.  
 
Board action is required to approve the project ordinance as presented. 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

21



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
 
WATAUGA COUNTY 

 
Watauga County Capital Projects Ordinance  

Library Renovations 
 

BE IT ORDAINED by the Watauga County Board of Commissioners, pursuant to Section 13.2 
of Chapter 159 of the general statutes of North Carolina, the following Capital Projects Ordinance 
is hereby adopted: 
 
Section 1.  The authorized project shall pertain to renovations to the Watauga County Library. 
  
Section 2.  The officers of the County are hereby directed to proceed with this project within the 
guidelines set by the budget contained herein and as amended in the future.    
 
Section 3.  The following revenues and appropriations are available to complete this project: 
 

Rural Downtown Economic Development Grant $125,000 
Total revenues     $125,000 
 
Library Renovations     $125,000 
Total appropriations     $125,000 

 
Section 4. Any balance of appropriated funds which are unexpended at the conclusion of this 
project shall be reserved by the Board of Commissioners for future capital projects. 
 
Section 5.  Copies of this capital projects ordinance shall be furnished to the Clerk to the Governing 
Board, and to the Budget Officer and the Finance Officer for direction in carrying out this project.  
 
ADOPTED this 1st day of April, 2025.  
 
 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Braxton Eggers, Chairman 
       Watauga County Board of Commissioners 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________ 
Anita J. Fogle 
Clerk to the Board 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

22



AGENDA ITEM 6: 

PROPOSED CHANGE ORDER FOR COMPLEX FENCING REPAIRS 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Mr. Robert Marsh, Watauga County Maintenance Director, will request the Board approve a 
change order in the amount of $14,857 for fence repairs.  The change order is to allow for the 
addition of two (2) gates and about forty feet of fencing that was open and is now to be enclosed.   
   
Board action is required to accept the change order from Mountain Fence and Deck in the amount 
of $14,857.   
 
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

23



040125 BCC Meeting

24



040125 BCC Meeting

25



040125 BCC Meeting

26



AGENDA ITEM 7: 

PROPOSED RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF NORTH CAROLINA SENATE BILL 248  

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Ms. Amy Shook, Watauga County Register of Deeds, will request the Board approve the resolution 
in support of North Carolina Senate Bill 248.  The bill would alleviate the burdens placed on 
adopted individuals by allowing them to obtain their birth records from their local Register of 
Deeds. 
 
Board action is required to adopt the resolution as presented.   
 
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

27



DRAFT 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
 

COUNTY OF WATAUGA 
 

RESOLUTION  
IN SUPPORT OF NORTH CAROLINA SENATE BILL 248 

 
WHEREAS, the North Carolina Association of Registers of Deeds (NCARD) has diligently 

advocated for legislation to improve access to vital records for all North Carolina citizens, 
including those who have been adopted; and 

 

WHEREAS, Senate Bill 248 has been introduced to authorize North Carolina Registers of 
Deeds offices to issue birth records for adopted individuals, thereby expanding access to these 
records at the local level; and 

 

WHEREAS, under current law, once adopted, the original birth certificate is returned to 
the state office, and all indexed information is removed from the county records. The adoptee 
cannot obtain a copy of their birth record from the county of birth, and they must request their 
birth certificate from the North Carolina Office of Vital Records (NCOVR) in Raleigh, often facing 
significant delays and administrative challenges; and 

 

WHEREAS, Register of Deeds offices across the state have implemented the North 
Carolina Database Application for Vital Events (NCDAVE) system, providing access to statewide 
birth and death records, except in the case of adopted individuals; and 

 

WHEREAS, the passage of Senate Bill 248 would alleviate burdens on adopted individuals 
by allowing them to obtain their birth records in a timely manner from their local Register of 
Deeds office, ensuring equitable access to vital records and improved customer service; and 

 

WHEREAS, this legislative change would streamline government services, reduce wait 
times, and foster greater efficiency within the statewide vital records system; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Watauga County Board of Commissioners recognizes the importance of 
ensuring equitable access to vital records for all residents and supports the efforts of the North 
Carolina Association of Registers of Deeds to advance this critical legislation. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Watauga County Board of Commissioners 
hereby expresses its strong support for Senate Bill 248 and encourages its swift passage by the 
North Carolina General Assembly; and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that copies of this resolution be forwarded to members of the 
North Carolina General Assembly representing Watauga County, as well as to the North Carolina 
Association of Registers of Deeds. 

 

ADOPTED this 1st day of April, 2025. 
 

_______________________________ 
Braxton Eggers, Chairman 
Watauga County Board of Commissioners 
 

ATTEST: 
 

_______________________________ 
Anita J. Fogle, Clerk to the Board  

040125 BCC Meeting

28



AGENDA ITEM 8: 

EMERGENCY SERVICES MATTERS: 
A. Request for Public Safety Radio System Civil, Tower, & Construction Work 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Mr. Will Holt, Emergency Services Director, will request the Board authorize ETS to perform the 
civil, engineering, and existing tower assessment work in the amount of $621,460.25.  The scope 
of work will cover the seven (7) towers listed in the memo.  Adequate funds have been budgeted 
to cover the expense.   
 
Board action is required to authorize the expenditure of $621,460.25 to ETS for civil, engineering, 
and existing tower assessment work.   
 
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

29



Watauga County Emergency Services 
184 Hodges Gap Rd, Suite D 

Boone, NC 28607 
Phone 828-264-4235 

Fax 828-265-7617 
 

Fire Marshal ♦ Emergency Management ♦ Communications 
 

March 26th, 2024 
 
To:  Board of Commissioners 
 
CC: Deron Geouque, County Manager 

Anita Fogle, Clerk to the Board 
 
 
Subject: Approval Request for Public Safety Radio System Civil, Tower, and Construction work 
 
Board of Commissioners, 
 
As the public safety radio infrastructure project continues, we are now entering the civil phase on 
several sites. The first 6 attached quotes are provided to address individual needs at each site for civil or 
existing tower modification assessment and engineering work. The separate Rich Mountain Construction 
quote is for completing the civil work itself including the new generator and building installation. The 
total cost of the ETS proposal is $621.460.25 and cost have been budgeted in the construction budget 
for the process. Commissioner approval is requested. 
 

 
 
*Phoenix is a connection point to the VIPER system back to our Watauga County simulcast 
 
Respectfully, 
 

 
Will Holt 
ES Director 

 

Site Quote
Aho 2,100.00$      
Buckeye Knob 2,100.00$      
Phoenix* 10,750.00$    
Powderhorn 42,550.00$    
Rich Mtn 19,300.00$    
Transfer Station 40,050.00$    
Rich Mtn Civil Construction 504,610.25$ 

Total 621,460.25$ 

040125 BCC Meeting

30



Contract #: 150694-ETS Engineering
Site Name: 

County: 
Address:

# Rawland: Qty Unit Cost Extended cost
1 Site Visit $1,500.00 $0.00

2
Partial Boundary Survey with Topography 
and 1A

$5,500.00 $0.00

3
Geotechnical/Resistivity Report (per boring 
location)

$4,500.00 $0.00

4 Geotechnical Clearing -- Moderate Access $2,750.00 $0.00
4a Geotechnical Clearing -- Difficult Access $3,500.00 $0.00

5 Site Zoning and Construction Drawings (ZD's) $1,750.00 $0.00

6 Detailed (DOI) Construction Drawings (CD's) $3,750.00 $0.00

7 FCC NEPA Checklist w/SHPO $5,500.00 $0.00
8 Tower Manufacturer Selection $1,500.00 $0.00
9 Tower bid document 1 $1,100.00 $1,100.00

10 Tower bid review for up to 3 bids 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00

11 Cost to restake Tower prior to Construction $2,250.00 $0.00

12 Construction: Foundation Inspection $2,375.00 $0.00

13 Construction: Concrete testing (per site visit) $1,875.00 $0.00

14 Post construction inspection $2,500.00 $0.00
15 Construction: Bearing Check $3,000.00 $0.00
16 Construction: Soil Compaction Testing $3,000.00 $0.00
17 Construction: Private Utility Locates $2,700.00 $0.00
18 Construction: Lease Exhibit $1,500.00 $0.00

$2,100.00
Collocation:

19 Structural Analysis $1,500.00 $0.00
20 Appurtenance Mapping $2,450.00 $0.00
21 Tower Mapping $2,850.00 $0.00
22 FCC Collocation NEPA $3,500.00 $0.00

23
30-Day Electrical Load Study with Data 
Loggers for SCO

$2,750.00 $0.00

$0.00
Tower Modification:

24 Pre-mod mapping $2,500.00 $0.00
25 Modification design/drawings - standard $3,500.00 $0.00
26 Modification design/drawings - extensive $6,000.00 $0.00
27 Foundation mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

28
Geotechnical investigation (1 soil bore up to 
60' depth on SS, 4 soil bores up to 20' for 
guyed towers)

$4,500.00 $0.00

29
Geo: addition of rock coring or deep 
foundation

$2,000.00 $0.00

30 Foundation drawings $2,000.00 $0.00
31 Temporary loading letter $600.00 $0.00
32 PMI $2,650.00 $0.00

Aho - Viper
Watauga
1388 Sampson Road, Boone, NC 28607

040125 BCC Meeting

31



33 Foundation construction inspection $3,500.00 $0.00
34 Cracked Foundation Mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

35
Construction Materials Testing (CMT) 
Foundation Inspection (existing foundation)

$2,375.00 $0.00

36
CWI Inspection (includes before, during, and 
after inspections per AWS guidelines)

$3,500.00 $0.00

37 NDE Weld Inspection $1,850.00 $0.00
38 Rebar Mapping $3,750.00 $0.00
39 Partial Boundary Survey with Topography $4,600.00 $0.00
40 1A Letter $900.00 $0.00

$0.00
Other tasks:

41 DHS EHP $3,000.00 $0.00
42 DHS - EA/ESA $5,500.00 $0.00
43 NEPA EA $3,250.00 $0.00
44 Centerline Easement survey $5,500.00 $0.00

45
Botantist site inspection and report on USFS 
land

$3,500.00 $0.00

46
Wildlife biologist inspection and report on 
USFS land

$3,500.00 $0.00

47 Balloon Test $3,500.00 $0.00

48
Legal Description per State Property Office 
Requirements

$2,000.00 $0.00

49 Ownership Right of Access to Site $1,000.00 $0.00
50 Site Candidate Information Package (SCIP) $3,500.00 $0.00

51
Construction Monitoring at USFS sites (daily 
rate)

$1,250.00 $0.00

52 Public Notice $900.00 $0.00

53 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - standard $3,000.00 $0.00

54 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - moderate $8,000.00 $0.00

55 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - extensive $14,000.00 $0.00

56 Class IV Rigging Plan - standard $1,500.00 $0.00
57 Class IV Rigging Plan - extensive $3,000.00 $0.00
58 TIA Maintenance Drawings $1,250.00 $0.00
59 EOR Review $900.00 $0.00
60 Mount Analysis $1,000.00 $0.00
61 Platform Design Drawings $2,500.00 $0.00

62
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height less 
than 10-ft

$4,000.00 $0.00

63
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height 
greater than 10-ft, but less than 25-ft

$7,500.00 $0.00

64 Stormwater Control Measure Inspection $1,375.00 $0.00
65 Special Use Permit - site plan $1,750.00 $0.00

66
Special Use Permit - (1) staff member in 
attendance at 1 meeting

$1,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Mobilization

67 East Zone $600.00 $0.00
68 Central Zone $350.00 $0.00
69 West Zone $850.00 $0.00

040125 BCC Meeting

32



$0.00
TIA Inspection - Self-supporting tower

70 0' - 250' $1,900.00 $0.00
71 250' - 500' $2,150.00 $0.00
72 501' and above $2,400.00 $0.00

$0.00
TIA Inspection - Guyed tower

73 0' - 300' $1,900.00 $0.00
74 301' - 600' $2,150.00 $0.00
75 601' - 1,000' $3,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Guyed tower re-tensioning & re-plumbing

76 0' - 300' $3,750.00 $0.00
77 301' - 600' $4,750.00 $0.00
78 601' - 1,000' $7,750.00 $0.00

$0.00

$2,100.00
Note: mobilization cost assessed by zone per week

Total Cost

040125 BCC Meeting

33



Contract #: 150694-ETS Engineering
Site Name: 

County: 
Address:

# Rawland: Qty Unit Cost Extended cost
1 Site Visit $1,500.00 $0.00

2
Partial Boundary Survey with Topography 
and 1A

$5,500.00 $0.00

3
Geotechnical/Resistivity Report (per boring 
location)

$4,500.00 $0.00
4 Geotechnical Clearing -- Moderate Access $2,750.00 $0.00

4a Geotechnical Clearing -- Difficult Access $3,500.00 $0.00

5 Site Zoning and Construction Drawings (ZD's) $1,750.00 $0.00

6 Detailed (DOI) Construction Drawings (CD's) $3,750.00 $0.00
7 FCC NEPA Checklist w/SHPO $5,500.00 $0.00
8 Tower Manufacturer Selection $1,500.00 $0.00
9 Tower bid document 1 $1,100.00 $1,100.00

10 Tower bid review for up to 3 bids 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00

11 Cost to restake Tower prior to Construction $2,250.00 $0.00
12 Construction: Foundation Inspection $2,375.00 $0.00

13 Construction: Concrete testing (per site visit) $1,875.00 $0.00
14 Post construction inspection $2,500.00 $0.00
15 Construction: Bearing Check $3,000.00 $0.00
16 Construction: Soil Compaction Testing $3,000.00 $0.00
17 Construction: Private Utility Locates $2,700.00 $0.00
18 Construction: Lease Exhibit $1,500.00 $0.00

$2,100.00
Collocation:

19 Structural Analysis $1,500.00 $0.00
20 Appurtenance Mapping $2,450.00 $0.00
21 Tower Mapping $2,850.00 $0.00
22 FCC Collocation NEPA $3,500.00 $0.00

23
30-Day Electrical Load Study with Data 
Loggers for SCO

$2,750.00 $0.00

$0.00
Tower Modification:

24 Pre-mod mapping $2,500.00 $0.00
25 Modification design/drawings - standard $3,500.00 $0.00
26 Modification design/drawings - extensive $6,000.00 $0.00
27 Foundation mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

28
Geotechnical investigation (1 soil bore up to 
60' depth on SS, 4 soil bores up to 20' for 
guyed towers)

$4,500.00 $0.00

29
Geo: addition of rock coring or deep 
foundation

$2,000.00 $0.00
30 Foundation drawings $2,000.00 $0.00
31 Temporary loading letter $600.00 $0.00
32 PMI $2,650.00 $0.00

Buckeye Mountain - Viper
Watauga
2542 Forest Grove Road, Vilas, NC

040125 BCC Meeting

34



33 Foundation construction inspection $3,500.00 $0.00
34 Cracked Foundation Mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

35
Construction Materials Testing (CMT) 
Foundation Inspection (existing foundation)

$2,375.00 $0.00

36
CWI Inspection (includes before, during, and 
after inspections per AWS guidelines)

$3,500.00 $0.00

37 NDE Weld Inspection $1,850.00 $0.00
38 Rebar Mapping $3,750.00 $0.00
39 Partial Boundary Survey with Topography $4,600.00 $0.00
40 1A Letter $900.00 $0.00

$0.00
Other tasks:

41 DHS EHP $3,000.00 $0.00
42 DHS - EA/ESA $5,500.00 $0.00
43 NEPA EA $3,250.00 $0.00
44 Centerline Easement survey $5,500.00 $0.00

45
Botantist site inspection and report on USFS 
land

$3,500.00 $0.00

46
Wildlife biologist inspection and report on 
USFS land

$3,500.00 $0.00
47 Balloon Test $3,500.00 $0.00

48
Legal Description per State Property Office 
Requirements

$2,000.00 $0.00

49 Ownership Right of Access to Site $1,000.00 $0.00
50 Site Candidate Information Package (SCIP) $3,500.00 $0.00

51
Construction Monitoring at USFS sites (daily 
rate)

$1,250.00 $0.00

52 Public Notice $900.00 $0.00

53 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - standard $3,000.00 $0.00

54 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - moderate $8,000.00 $0.00

55 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - extensive $14,000.00 $0.00
56 Class IV Rigging Plan - standard $1,500.00 $0.00
57 Class IV Rigging Plan - extensive $3,000.00 $0.00
58 TIA Maintenance Drawings $1,250.00 $0.00
59 EOR Review $900.00 $0.00
60 Mount Analysis $1,000.00 $0.00
61 Platform Design Drawings $2,500.00 $0.00

62
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height less 
than 10-ft

$4,000.00 $0.00

63
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height 
greater than 10-ft, but less than 25-ft

$7,500.00 $0.00

64 Stormwater Control Measure Inspection $1,375.00 $0.00
65 Special Use Permit - site plan $1,750.00 $0.00

66
Special Use Permit - (1) staff member in 
attendance at 1 meeting

$1,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Mobilization

67 East Zone $600.00 $0.00
68 Central Zone $350.00 $0.00
69 West Zone $850.00 $0.00

040125 BCC Meeting

35



$0.00
TIA Inspection - Self-supporting tower

70 0' - 250' $1,900.00 $0.00
71 250' - 500' $2,150.00 $0.00
72 501' and above $2,400.00 $0.00

$0.00
TIA Inspection - Guyed tower

73 0' - 300' $1,900.00 $0.00
74 301' - 600' $2,150.00 $0.00
75 601' - 1,000' $3,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Guyed tower re-tensioning & re-plumbing

76 0' - 300' $3,750.00 $0.00
77 301' - 600' $4,750.00 $0.00
78 601' - 1,000' $7,750.00 $0.00

$0.00

$2,100.00
Note: mobilization cost assessed by zone per week

Total Cost

040125 BCC Meeting

36



Contract #: 150694-ETS Engineering
Site Name: 

County: 
Address:

# Rawland: Qty Unit Cost Extended cost
1 Site Visit $1,500.00 $0.00

2
Partial Boundary Survey with Topography 
and 1A

$5,500.00 $0.00

3
Geotechnical/Resistivity Report (per boring 
location)

$4,500.00 $0.00
4 Geotechnical Clearing -- Moderate Access $2,750.00 $0.00

4a Geotechnical Clearing -- Difficult Access $3,500.00 $0.00

5 Site Zoning and Construction Drawings (ZD's) $1,750.00 $0.00

6 Detailed (DOI) Construction Drawings (CD's) $3,750.00 $0.00
7 FCC NEPA Checklist w/SHPO $5,500.00 $0.00
8 Tower Manufacturer Selection $1,500.00 $0.00
9 Tower bid document 1 $1,100.00 $1,100.00

10 Tower bid review for up to 3 bids 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00

11 Cost to restake Tower prior to Construction $2,250.00 $0.00
12 Construction: Foundation Inspection $2,375.00 $0.00

13 Construction: Concrete testing (per site visit) $1,875.00 $0.00
14 Post construction inspection $2,500.00 $0.00
15 Construction: Bearing Check $3,000.00 $0.00
16 Construction: Soil Compaction Testing $3,000.00 $0.00
17 Construction: Private Utility Locates $2,700.00 $0.00
18 Construction: Lease Exhibit $1,500.00 $0.00

$2,100.00
Collocation:

19 Structural Analysis $1,500.00 $0.00
20 Appurtenance Mapping $2,450.00 $0.00
21 Tower Mapping $2,850.00 $0.00
22 FCC Collocation NEPA $3,500.00 $0.00

23
30-Day Electrical Load Study with Data 
Loggers for SCO

$2,750.00 $0.00

$0.00
Tower Modification:

24 Pre-mod mapping 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00
25 Modification design/drawings - standard 1 $3,500.00 $3,500.00
26 Modification design/drawings - extensive $6,000.00 $0.00
27 Foundation mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

28
Geotechnical investigation (1 soil bore up to 
60' depth on SS, 4 soil bores up to 20' for 
guyed towers)

$4,500.00 $0.00

29
Geo: addition of rock coring or deep 
foundation

$2,000.00 $0.00
30 Foundation drawings $2,000.00 $0.00
31 Temporary loading letter $600.00 $0.00
32 PMI 1 $2,650.00 $2,650.00

Phoenix Mountain (NCSHP)
Watauga
1699 Claybank Road, Unit 1, Jefferson, NC 2

040125 BCC Meeting

37



33 Foundation construction inspection $3,500.00 $0.00
34 Cracked Foundation Mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

35
Construction Materials Testing (CMT) 
Foundation Inspection (existing foundation)

$2,375.00 $0.00

36
CWI Inspection (includes before, during, and 
after inspections per AWS guidelines)

$3,500.00 $0.00

37 NDE Weld Inspection $1,850.00 $0.00
38 Rebar Mapping $3,750.00 $0.00
39 Partial Boundary Survey with Topography $4,600.00 $0.00
40 1A Letter $900.00 $0.00

$8,650.00
Other tasks:

41 DHS EHP $3,000.00 $0.00
42 DHS - EA/ESA $5,500.00 $0.00
43 NEPA EA $3,250.00 $0.00
44 Centerline Easement survey $5,500.00 $0.00

45
Botantist site inspection and report on USFS 
land

$3,500.00 $0.00

46
Wildlife biologist inspection and report on 
USFS land

$3,500.00 $0.00
47 Balloon Test $3,500.00 $0.00

48
Legal Description per State Property Office 
Requirements

$2,000.00 $0.00

49 Ownership Right of Access to Site $1,000.00 $0.00
50 Site Candidate Information Package (SCIP) $3,500.00 $0.00

51
Construction Monitoring at USFS sites (daily 
rate)

$1,250.00 $0.00

52 Public Notice $900.00 $0.00

53 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - standard $3,000.00 $0.00

54 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - moderate $8,000.00 $0.00

55 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - extensive $14,000.00 $0.00
56 Class IV Rigging Plan - standard $1,500.00 $0.00
57 Class IV Rigging Plan - extensive $3,000.00 $0.00
58 TIA Maintenance Drawings $1,250.00 $0.00
59 EOR Review $900.00 $0.00
60 Mount Analysis $1,000.00 $0.00
61 Platform Design Drawings $2,500.00 $0.00

62
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height less 
than 10-ft

$4,000.00 $0.00

63
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height 
greater than 10-ft, but less than 25-ft

$7,500.00 $0.00

64 Stormwater Control Measure Inspection $1,375.00 $0.00
65 Special Use Permit - site plan $1,750.00 $0.00

66
Special Use Permit - (1) staff member in 
attendance at 1 meeting

$1,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Mobilization

67 East Zone $600.00 $0.00
68 Central Zone $350.00 $0.00
69 West Zone $850.00 $0.00

040125 BCC Meeting

38



$0.00
TIA Inspection - Self-supporting tower

70 0' - 250' $1,900.00 $0.00
71 250' - 500' $2,150.00 $0.00
72 501' and above $2,400.00 $0.00

$0.00
TIA Inspection - Guyed tower

73 0' - 300' $1,900.00 $0.00
74 301' - 600' $2,150.00 $0.00
75 601' - 1,000' $3,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Guyed tower re-tensioning & re-plumbing

76 0' - 300' $3,750.00 $0.00
77 301' - 600' $4,750.00 $0.00
78 601' - 1,000' $7,750.00 $0.00

$0.00

$10,750.00
Note: mobilization cost assessed by zone per week

Total Cost

040125 BCC Meeting

39



Contract #: 150694-ETS Engineering
Site Name: 

County: 
Address:

# Rawland: Qty Unit Cost Extended cost
1 Site Visit 2 $1,500.00 $3,000.00

2
Partial Boundary Survey with Topography 
and 1A

$5,500.00 $0.00

3
Geotechnical/Resistivity Report (per boring 
location)

1 $4,500.00 $4,500.00

4 Geotechnical Clearing -- Moderate Access $2,750.00 $0.00
4a Geotechnical Clearing -- Difficult Access 1 $3,500.00 $3,500.00

5 Site Zoning and Construction Drawings (ZD's) $1,750.00 $0.00

6 Detailed (DOI) Construction Drawings (CD's) 1 $3,750.00 $3,750.00

7 FCC NEPA Checklist w/SHPO $5,500.00 $0.00
8 Tower Manufacturer Selection 1 $1,500.00 $1,500.00
9 Tower bid document 1 $1,100.00 $1,100.00

10 Tower bid review for up to 3 bids 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00

11 Cost to restake Tower prior to Construction 1 $2,250.00 $2,250.00

12 Construction: Foundation Inspection 1 $2,375.00 $2,375.00

13 Construction: Concrete testing (per site visit) 1 $1,875.00 $1,875.00

14 Post construction inspection 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00
15 Construction: Bearing Check 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00
16 Construction: Soil Compaction Testing $3,000.00 $0.00
17 Construction: Private Utility Locates 1 $2,700.00 $2,700.00
18 Construction: Lease Exhibit $1,500.00 $0.00

$33,050.00
Collocation:

19 Structural Analysis $1,500.00 $0.00
20 Appurtenance Mapping $2,450.00 $0.00
21 Tower Mapping $2,850.00 $0.00
22 FCC Collocation NEPA $3,500.00 $0.00

23
30-Day Electrical Load Study with Data 
Loggers for SCO

$2,750.00 $0.00

$0.00
Tower Modification:

24 Pre-mod mapping $2,500.00 $0.00
25 Modification design/drawings - standard $3,500.00 $0.00
26 Modification design/drawings - extensive $6,000.00 $0.00
27 Foundation mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

28
Geotechnical investigation (1 soil bore up to 
60' depth on SS, 4 soil bores up to 20' for 
guyed towers)

$4,500.00 $0.00

29
Geo: addition of rock coring or deep 
foundation

1 $2,000.00 $2,000.00

30 Foundation drawings $2,000.00 $0.00
31 Temporary loading letter $600.00 $0.00
32 PMI $2,650.00 $0.00

Powder Horn Mountain
Watauga
340 Deer Run Road, Stony Fork, NC 28607

040125 BCC Meeting

40



33 Foundation construction inspection $3,500.00 $0.00
34 Cracked Foundation Mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

35
Construction Materials Testing (CMT) 
Foundation Inspection (existing foundation)

$2,375.00 $0.00

36
CWI Inspection (includes before, during, and 
after inspections per AWS guidelines)

$3,500.00 $0.00

37 NDE Weld Inspection $1,850.00 $0.00
38 Rebar Mapping $3,750.00 $0.00
39 Partial Boundary Survey with Topography $4,600.00 $0.00
40 1A Letter $900.00 $0.00

$2,000.00
Other tasks:

41 DHS EHP $3,000.00 $0.00
42 DHS - EA/ESA $5,500.00 $0.00
43 NEPA EA $3,250.00 $0.00
44 Centerline Easement survey $5,500.00 $0.00

45
Botantist site inspection and report on USFS 
land

$3,500.00 $0.00

46
Wildlife biologist inspection and report on 
USFS land

$3,500.00 $0.00

47 Balloon Test $3,500.00 $0.00

48
Legal Description per State Property Office 
Requirements

$2,000.00 $0.00

49 Ownership Right of Access to Site $1,000.00 $0.00
50 Site Candidate Information Package (SCIP) $3,500.00 $0.00

51
Construction Monitoring at USFS sites (daily 
rate)

$1,250.00 $0.00

52 Public Notice $900.00 $0.00

53 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - standard $3,000.00 $0.00

54 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - moderate $8,000.00 $0.00

55 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - extensive $14,000.00 $0.00

56 Class IV Rigging Plan - standard $1,500.00 $0.00
57 Class IV Rigging Plan - extensive $3,000.00 $0.00
58 TIA Maintenance Drawings $1,250.00 $0.00
59 EOR Review $900.00 $0.00
60 Mount Analysis $1,000.00 $0.00
61 Platform Design Drawings $2,500.00 $0.00

62
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height less 
than 10-ft

$4,000.00 $0.00

63
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height 
greater than 10-ft, but less than 25-ft

1 $7,500.00 $7,500.00

64 Stormwater Control Measure Inspection $1,375.00 $0.00
65 Special Use Permit - site plan $1,750.00 $0.00

66
Special Use Permit - (1) staff member in 
attendance at 1 meeting

$1,250.00 $0.00

$7,500.00
Mobilization

67 East Zone $600.00 $0.00
68 Central Zone $350.00 $0.00
69 West Zone $850.00 $0.00

040125 BCC Meeting

41



$0.00
TIA Inspection - Self-supporting tower

70 0' - 250' $1,900.00 $0.00
71 250' - 500' $2,150.00 $0.00
72 501' and above $2,400.00 $0.00

$0.00
TIA Inspection - Guyed tower

73 0' - 300' $1,900.00 $0.00
74 301' - 600' $2,150.00 $0.00
75 601' - 1,000' $3,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Guyed tower re-tensioning & re-plumbing

76 0' - 300' $3,750.00 $0.00
77 301' - 600' $4,750.00 $0.00
78 601' - 1,000' $7,750.00 $0.00

$0.00

$42,550.00
Note: mobilization cost assessed by zone per week

Total Cost

040125 BCC Meeting

42



Contract #: 150694-ETS Engineering
Site Name: 

County: 
Address:

# Rawland: Qty Unit Cost Extended cost
1 Site Visit 1 $1,500.00 $1,500.00

2
Partial Boundary Survey with Topography 
and 1A

$5,500.00 $0.00

3
Geotechnical/Resistivity Report (per boring 
location)

$4,500.00 $0.00

4 Geotechnical Clearing -- Moderate Access $2,750.00 $0.00
4a Geotechnical Clearing -- Difficult Access $3,500.00 $0.00

5 Site Zoning and Construction Drawings (ZD's) 1 $1,750.00 $1,750.00

6 Detailed (DOI) Construction Drawings (CD's) $3,750.00 $0.00

7 FCC NEPA Checklist w/SHPO $5,500.00 $0.00
8 Tower Manufacturer Selection 1 $1,500.00 $1,500.00
9 Tower bid document 1 $1,100.00 $1,100.00

10 Tower bid review for up to 3 bids 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00

11 Cost to restake Tower prior to Construction $2,250.00 $0.00

12 Construction: Foundation Inspection 1 $2,375.00 $2,375.00

13 Construction: Concrete testing (per site visit) 1 $1,875.00 $1,875.00

14 Post construction inspection 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00
15 Construction: Bearing Check 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00
16 Construction: Soil Compaction Testing $3,000.00 $0.00
17 Construction: Private Utility Locates 1 $2,700.00 $2,700.00
18 Construction: Lease Exhibit $1,500.00 $0.00

$19,300.00
Collocation:

19 Structural Analysis $1,500.00 $0.00
20 Appurtenance Mapping $2,450.00 $0.00
21 Tower Mapping $2,850.00 $0.00
22 FCC Collocation NEPA $3,500.00 $0.00

23
30-Day Electrical Load Study with Data 
Loggers for SCO

$2,750.00 $0.00

$0.00
Tower Modification:

24 Pre-mod mapping $2,500.00 $0.00
25 Modification design/drawings - standard $3,500.00 $0.00
26 Modification design/drawings - extensive $6,000.00 $0.00
27 Foundation mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

28
Geotechnical investigation (1 soil bore up to 
60' depth on SS, 4 soil bores up to 20' for 
guyed towers)

$4,500.00 $0.00

29
Geo: addition of rock coring or deep 
foundation

$2,000.00 $0.00

30 Foundation drawings $2,000.00 $0.00
31 Temporary loading letter $600.00 $0.00
32 PMI $2,650.00 $0.00

Rich Mountain
Watauga
759 Fire Tower Road, Boone, NC 28607

040125 BCC Meeting

43



33 Foundation construction inspection $3,500.00 $0.00
34 Cracked Foundation Mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

35
Construction Materials Testing (CMT) 
Foundation Inspection (existing foundation)

$2,375.00 $0.00

36
CWI Inspection (includes before, during, and 
after inspections per AWS guidelines)

$3,500.00 $0.00

37 NDE Weld Inspection $1,850.00 $0.00
38 Rebar Mapping $3,750.00 $0.00
39 Partial Boundary Survey with Topography $4,600.00 $0.00
40 1A Letter $900.00 $0.00

$0.00
Other tasks:

41 DHS EHP $3,000.00 $0.00
42 DHS - EA/ESA $5,500.00 $0.00
43 NEPA EA $3,250.00 $0.00
44 Centerline Easement survey $5,500.00 $0.00

45
Botantist site inspection and report on USFS 
land

$3,500.00 $0.00

46
Wildlife biologist inspection and report on 
USFS land

$3,500.00 $0.00

47 Balloon Test $3,500.00 $0.00

48
Legal Description per State Property Office 
Requirements

$2,000.00 $0.00

49 Ownership Right of Access to Site $1,000.00 $0.00
50 Site Candidate Information Package (SCIP) $3,500.00 $0.00

51
Construction Monitoring at USFS sites (daily 
rate)

$1,250.00 $0.00

52 Public Notice $900.00 $0.00

53 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - standard $3,000.00 $0.00

54 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - moderate $8,000.00 $0.00

55 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - extensive $14,000.00 $0.00

56 Class IV Rigging Plan - standard $1,500.00 $0.00
57 Class IV Rigging Plan - extensive $3,000.00 $0.00
58 TIA Maintenance Drawings $1,250.00 $0.00
59 EOR Review $900.00 $0.00
60 Mount Analysis $1,000.00 $0.00
61 Platform Design Drawings $2,500.00 $0.00

62
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height less 
than 10-ft

$4,000.00 $0.00

63
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height 
greater than 10-ft, but less than 25-ft

$7,500.00 $0.00

64 Stormwater Control Measure Inspection $1,375.00 $0.00
65 Special Use Permit - site plan $1,750.00 $0.00

66
Special Use Permit - (1) staff member in 
attendance at 1 meeting

$1,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Mobilization

67 East Zone $600.00 $0.00
68 Central Zone $350.00 $0.00
69 West Zone $850.00 $0.00

040125 BCC Meeting

44



$0.00
TIA Inspection - Self-supporting tower

70 0' - 250' $1,900.00 $0.00
71 250' - 500' $2,150.00 $0.00
72 501' and above $2,400.00 $0.00

$0.00
TIA Inspection - Guyed tower

73 0' - 300' $1,900.00 $0.00
74 301' - 600' $2,150.00 $0.00
75 601' - 1,000' $3,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Guyed tower re-tensioning & re-plumbing

76 0' - 300' $3,750.00 $0.00
77 301' - 600' $4,750.00 $0.00
78 601' - 1,000' $7,750.00 $0.00

$0.00

$19,300.00
Note: mobilization cost assessed by zone per week

Total Cost

040125 BCC Meeting

45



Contract #: 150694-ETS Engineering
Site Name: 

County: 
Address:

# Rawland: Qty Unit Cost Extended cost
1 Site Visit 2 $1,500.00 $3,000.00

2
Partial Boundary Survey with Topography 
and 1A

$5,500.00 $0.00

3
Geotechnical/Resistivity Report (per boring 
location)

1 $4,500.00 $4,500.00

4 Geotechnical Clearing -- Moderate Access $2,750.00 $0.00
4a Geotechnical Clearing -- Difficult Access 3 $3,500.00 $10,500.00

5 Site Zoning and Construction Drawings (ZD's) 1 $1,750.00 $1,750.00

6 Detailed (DOI) Construction Drawings (CD's) $3,750.00 $0.00

7 FCC NEPA Checklist w/SHPO $5,500.00 $0.00
8 Tower Manufacturer Selection 1 $1,500.00 $1,500.00
9 Tower bid document 1 $1,100.00 $1,100.00

10 Tower bid review for up to 3 bids 1 $1,000.00 $1,000.00

11 Cost to restake Tower prior to Construction 1 $2,250.00 $2,250.00

12 Construction: Foundation Inspection 1 $2,375.00 $2,375.00

13 Construction: Concrete testing (per site visit) 1 $1,875.00 $1,875.00

14 Post construction inspection 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00
15 Construction: Bearing Check 1 $3,000.00 $3,000.00
16 Construction: Soil Compaction Testing $3,000.00 $0.00
17 Construction: Private Utility Locates 1 $2,700.00 $2,700.00
18 Construction: Lease Exhibit $1,500.00 $0.00

$38,050.00
Collocation:

19 Structural Analysis $1,500.00 $0.00
20 Appurtenance Mapping $2,450.00 $0.00
21 Tower Mapping $2,850.00 $0.00
22 FCC Collocation NEPA $3,500.00 $0.00

23
30-Day Electrical Load Study with Data 
Loggers for SCO

$2,750.00 $0.00

$0.00
Tower Modification:

24 Pre-mod mapping $2,500.00 $0.00
25 Modification design/drawings - standard $3,500.00 $0.00
26 Modification design/drawings - extensive $6,000.00 $0.00
27 Foundation mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

28
Geotechnical investigation (1 soil bore up to 
60' depth on SS, 4 soil bores up to 20' for 
guyed towers)

$4,500.00 $0.00

29
Geo: addition of rock coring or deep 
foundation

1 $2,000.00 $2,000.00

30 Foundation drawings $2,000.00 $0.00
31 Temporary loading letter $600.00 $0.00
32 PMI $2,650.00 $0.00

Watauga County Transfer Station
Watauga
Boat Rock Loop, Boone, NC 28607

040125 BCC Meeting

46



33 Foundation construction inspection $3,500.00 $0.00
34 Cracked Foundation Mapping $3,500.00 $0.00

35
Construction Materials Testing (CMT) 
Foundation Inspection (existing foundation)

$2,375.00 $0.00

36
CWI Inspection (includes before, during, and 
after inspections per AWS guidelines)

$3,500.00 $0.00

37 NDE Weld Inspection $1,850.00 $0.00
38 Rebar Mapping $3,750.00 $0.00
39 Partial Boundary Survey with Topography $4,600.00 $0.00
40 1A Letter $900.00 $0.00

$2,000.00
Other tasks:

41 DHS EHP $3,000.00 $0.00
42 DHS - EA/ESA $5,500.00 $0.00
43 NEPA EA $3,250.00 $0.00
44 Centerline Easement survey $5,500.00 $0.00

45
Botantist site inspection and report on USFS 
land

$3,500.00 $0.00

46
Wildlife biologist inspection and report on 
USFS land

$3,500.00 $0.00

47 Balloon Test $3,500.00 $0.00

48
Legal Description per State Property Office 
Requirements

$2,000.00 $0.00

49 Ownership Right of Access to Site $1,000.00 $0.00
50 Site Candidate Information Package (SCIP) $3,500.00 $0.00

51
Construction Monitoring at USFS sites (daily 
rate)

$1,250.00 $0.00

52 Public Notice $900.00 $0.00

53 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - standard $3,000.00 $0.00

54 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - moderate $8,000.00 $0.00

55 Tribal Reimbursement Fee (TCNS) - extensive $14,000.00 $0.00

56 Class IV Rigging Plan - standard $1,500.00 $0.00
57 Class IV Rigging Plan - extensive $3,000.00 $0.00
58 TIA Maintenance Drawings $1,250.00 $0.00
59 EOR Review $900.00 $0.00
60 Mount Analysis $1,000.00 $0.00
61 Platform Design Drawings $2,500.00 $0.00

62
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height less 
than 10-ft

$4,000.00 $0.00

63
Retaining Wall Design Drawings -- height 
greater than 10-ft, but less than 25-ft

$7,500.00 $0.00

64 Stormwater Control Measure Inspection $1,375.00 $0.00
65 Special Use Permit - site plan $1,750.00 $0.00

66
Special Use Permit - (1) staff member in 
attendance at 1 meeting

$1,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Mobilization

67 East Zone $600.00 $0.00
68 Central Zone $350.00 $0.00
69 West Zone $850.00 $0.00

040125 BCC Meeting

47



$0.00
TIA Inspection - Self-supporting tower

70 0' - 250' $1,900.00 $0.00
71 250' - 500' $2,150.00 $0.00
72 501' and above $2,400.00 $0.00

$0.00
TIA Inspection - Guyed tower

73 0' - 300' $1,900.00 $0.00
74 301' - 600' $2,150.00 $0.00
75 601' - 1,000' $3,250.00 $0.00

$0.00
Guyed tower re-tensioning & re-plumbing

76 0' - 300' $3,750.00 $0.00
77 301' - 600' $4,750.00 $0.00
78 601' - 1,000' $7,750.00 $0.00

$0.00

$40,050.00
Note: mobilization cost assessed by zone per week

Total Cost

040125 BCC Meeting

48



Total Materials Total Labor  Total Job Cost

East ‐$                                  ‐$                                 ‐$                                        

Central ‐$                                  ‐$                                 ‐$                                        

West 212,791.25$                    294,819.00$                   507,610.25$                         

Totals 212,791.25$                   294,819.00$                  507,610.25$                         

Summary Cost (Do Not input data)

040125 BCC Meeting

49



Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

11
Cost to apply for and obtain a building permit from the local 
jurisdiction (please include the Fee in your Labor cost). N/A N/A N/A 500.00$           ‐$                 

12

Cost per tree removal and disposal based on a tree with a 3' 
diameter. This work is not part of the SOW in the "Complete 
Site Installation" and "Land Clearing for 20' access road".  1,800.00$       ‐$                    450.00$           ‐$                 

13

Cost per linear foot to supply and install a 7ft compound 
fence or 6ft fence with 2ft barbed wire. The fencing shall be of 
adequate grade to allow exothermic bonding (cad weld) of a 
ground conductor to the fence post.    45.00$             ‐$                    13.50$              ‐$                 

14

Cost to supply and install 16-ft double gate. The gate shall be 
of adequate grade to allow exothermic bonding (cad weld) of a 
ground conductor to the gate. 2,250.00$       ‐$                    1,350.00$        ‐$                 

15
Cost to supply and install 8' copper ground rod and 16’ of #2 
tinned solid conductor. 100.80$           ‐$                    18.00$              ‐$                 

16
Cost to supply and install 10' horizontal chemically enhanced 
grounding rod system (per chem rod). 2,250.00$       ‐$                    450.00$           ‐$                 

17

Cost per square foot to supply and install Geo Tech fabric 
for work outside the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed 
above. 0.31$               ‐$                    0.09$                ‐$                 

18
Cost per ton to supply and install #57 stone for work outside 
the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above. 50.40$             ‐$                    18.00$              ‐$                 

19
Cost per ton to supply and install crush and run for work 
outside the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above. 50.40$             ‐$                    18.00$              ‐$                 

20
Cost per ton to supply and install riprap for work outside the 
“Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above 50.40$             ‐$                    18.00$              ‐$                 

21
Cost per square yard to supply and install seed and straw 
outside compound where required. 1.27$               ‐$                    0.18$                ‐$                 

22
Cost per cubic yard to supply and install additional fill 
needed for backfill and site grading. 27.00$             ‐$                    18.00$              ‐$                 

23
Cost per foot to supply and install of silt fencing (wire mesh & 
metal posts). 1.04$               ‐$                    1.13$                ‐$                 

24
Cost per foot to supply and install silt fencing (fabric & 
wooden post). 0.95$               ‐$                    1.13$                ‐$                 

Contract costs ‐ East site (fill in yellow highlighted boxes ONLY)

Site(s) Name:

Civil Contract Itemized Quote

040125 BCC Meeting

50



25

Cost to supply and install COPS connector and three pole 
double throw switch on buildings without COPS connector. 
Receptacle shall be an Appleton PN ADJA20044-250. 2,700.00$       ‐$                    1,350.00$        ‐$                 

26
Cost to supply and plant 1 landscape greenery (this could be 
anything from a shrub, bush, tree, etc. in any size). 18.00$             ‐$                    9.00$                ‐$                 

27

Cost to supply and install gravel for a 25’ x 40’ turnaround 
area outside fence gate on existing or expanding site for work 
outside the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above. 1,485.00$       ‐$                    540.00$           ‐$                 

28

Cost to have a licensed HVAC mechanic replace existing wall 
mounted WA series Bard HVAC with same series Bard 
supplied by owner; cost includes any materials/supplies and 
labor for the job. 200.00$           ‐$                    500.00$           ‐$                 

29 Cost to replace a 40kW generator at an existing site per SOW 2,250.00$       ‐$                    2,700.00$        ‐$                 

30
Cost to replace a 100kW generator on an existing site per 
SOW 2,250.00$       ‐$                    2,700.00$        ‐$                 

31
Cost to replace a transfer switch for a 40kW generator per 
SOW 450.00$           ‐$                    1,350.00$        ‐$                 

32
Cost to replace a transfer switch for a 100kW generator per 
SOW 450.00$           ‐$                    1,575.00$        ‐$                 

33 Cost per day for a 120 ton crane 6,000.00$      ‐$                   750.00$          ‐$                

34 Cost per day for a CAT D6 (or equivelant) bulldozer 1,000.00$      ‐$                   215.00$          ‐$                

35 Cost per day for an 8,000 pound skidsteer 200.00$          ‐$                   79.00$             ‐$                

36 Cost per day for 10,000 pound Lull (or equivelant) 300.00$          ‐$                   60.00$             ‐$                

37 Cost per day for an 8,000 pound excavator 300.00$          ‐$                   60.00$             ‐$                
Optional Tasks Totals ‐$                   ‐$                

Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

38

Minimal land clearing (grub roots, light brush, small trees up to 
6" trunk diameter), cut/fill, and normal soil: Cost per square foot 
to clear. 1.30$               ‐$                    1.00$                ‐$                 

39

Moderate land clearing (medium brush and trees up to 12" 
trunk diameter), cut/fill, and/or poor soil: Cost per square foot to 
clear. 1.30$               ‐$                    1.00$                ‐$                 

40

Extensive land clearing (clear heavily wooded area and pull 
stumps), cut/fill, and steep grade, e.g. mountain site access: 
Cost per square foot to clear. 1.30$               ‐$                    1.00$                ‐$                 

Access Road Totals ‐$                    ‐$                 

Land Clearing for 20' access road

040125 BCC Meeting

51



Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

41 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 4" culvert. 112.50$          ‐$                   180.00$          ‐$                

42 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 6" culvert. 193.50$          ‐$                   180.00$          ‐$                

43 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 8" culvert. 364.50$          ‐$                   180.00$          ‐$                

44 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 10" culvert. 481.50$          ‐$                   225.00$          ‐$                

45 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 12" culvert. 463.50$          ‐$                   225.00$          ‐$                

46 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 15" culvert. 621.00$          ‐$                   270.00$          ‐$                

47 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 24" culvert. 874.80$          ‐$                   315.00$          ‐$                

48 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 30" culvert. 1,503.00$      ‐$                   450.00$          ‐$                

49 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 36" culvert. 1,471.50$      ‐$                   540.00$          ‐$                

Culverts/Site Drainage Totals ‐$                   ‐$                

Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

50
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 1.5" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 12.60$             ‐$                    7.20$                ‐$                 

51
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 2" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 12.60$             ‐$                    7.20$                ‐$                 

52
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 3" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 12.60$             ‐$                    7.20$                ‐$                 

53
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 4" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 14.85$             ‐$                    7.20$                ‐$                 

Underground Conduit Totals: ‐$                   ‐$                

Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

54 Mobilization cost for a 2-man crew for 1/2 day rate 1,068.75$       ‐$                

55 Mobilization cost for a 2-man crew for FULL day rate 2,137.50$       ‐$                

56 Mobilization cost for a 4-man crew for 1/2 day rate 2,137.50$       ‐$                

57 Mobilization cost for a 4-man crew for Full day rate 4,275.00$       ‐$                
Mobilization Totals: ‐$                

Total Job Materials cost

Total Job Labor cost

‐$                                                                                                                                                                  

‐$                                                                                                                                                                  

N/A

Underground Conduit

Mobilization Cost

Culverts and Site Drainage - Cost to provide and install HDPE double wall corrugated pipe with smooth interior wall. Inlet/Outlet protection 
stone material and installation shall be priced using appropriate lines above.

040125 BCC Meeting

52



Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

11
Cost to apply for and obtain a building permit from the local 
jurisdiction (please include the Fee in your Labor cost). N/A N/A N/A 500.00$             ‐$                  

12

Cost per tree removal and disposal based on a tree with a 3' 
diameter. This work is not part of the SOW in the "Complete 
Site Installation" and "Land Clearing for 20' access road".  1,800.00$          ‐$                    450.00$             ‐$                  

13

Cost per linear foot to supply and install a 7ft compound 
fence or 6ft fence with 2ft barbed wire. The fencing shall be of 
adequate grade to allow exothermic bonding (cad weld) of a 
ground conductor to the fence post.    45.00$                ‐$                    13.50$               ‐$                  

14

Cost to supply and install 16-ft double gate. The gate shall be 
of adequate grade to allow exothermic bonding (cad weld) of a 
ground conductor to the gate. 2,250.00$          ‐$                    1,350.00$         ‐$                  

15
Cost to supply and install 8' copper ground rod and 16’ of #2 
tinned solid conductor. 100.80$              ‐$                    18.00$               ‐$                  

16
Cost to supply and install 10' horizontal chemically enhanced 
grounding rod system (per chem rod). 2,250.00$          ‐$                    450.00$             ‐$                  

17

Cost per square foot to supply and install Geo Tech fabric for 
work outside the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed 
above. 0.31$                  ‐$                    0.09$                 ‐$                  

18
Cost per ton to supply and install #57 stone for work outside 
the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above. 50.40$                ‐$                    18.00$               ‐$                  

19
Cost per ton to supply and install crush and run for work 
outside the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above. 50.40$                ‐$                    18.00$               ‐$                  

20
Cost per ton to supply and install riprap for work outside the 
“Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above 50.40$                ‐$                    18.00$               ‐$                  

21
Cost per square yard to supply and install seed and straw 
outside compound where required. 1.27$                  ‐$                    0.18$                 ‐$                  

22
Cost per cubic yard to supply and install additional fill needed 
for backfill and site grading. 27.00$                ‐$                    18.00$               ‐$                  

23
Cost per foot to supply and install of silt fencing (wire mesh & 
metal posts). 1.04$                  ‐$                    1.13$                 ‐$                  

24
Cost per foot to supply and install silt fencing (fabric & 
wooden post). 0.95$                  ‐$                    1.13$                 ‐$                  

Civil Contract Itemized Quote

Site(s) Name:

Contract costs ‐ Central site (fill in yellow highlighted boxes ONLY)

040125 BCC Meeting

53



25

Cost to supply and install COPS connector and three pole 
double throw switch on buildings without COPS connector. 
Receptacle shall be an Appleton PN ADJA20044-250. 2,700.00$          ‐$                    1,350.00$         ‐$                  

26
Cost to supply and plant 1 landscape greenery (this could be 
anything from a shrub, bush, tree, etc. in any size). 18.00$                ‐$                    9.00$                 ‐$                  

27

Cost to supply and install gravel for a 25’ x 40’ turnaround 
area outside fence gate on existing or expanding site for work 
outside the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above. 1,485.00$          ‐$                    540.00$             ‐$                  

28

Cost to have a licensed HVAC mechanic replace existing wall 
mounted WA series Bard HVAC with same series Bard supplied 
by owner; cost includes any materials/supplies and labor for the 
job. 200.00$              ‐$                    500.00$             ‐$                  

29 Cost to replace a 40kW generator at an existing site per SOW 2,250.00$          ‐$                    2,700.00$         ‐$                  

30 Cost to replace a 100kW generator on an existing site per SOW 2,250.00$          ‐$                    2,700.00$         ‐$                  

31 Cost to replace a transfer switch for a 40kW generator per SOW 450.00$              ‐$                    1,350.00$         ‐$                  

32
Cost to replace a transfer switch for a 100kW generator per 
SOW 450.00$              ‐$                    1,575.00$         ‐$                  

33 Cost per day for a 120 ton crane 6,000.00$         ‐$                   750.00$            ‐$                 

34 Cost per day for a CAT D6 (or equivelant) bulldozer 1,000.00$         ‐$                   215.00$            ‐$                 

35 Cost per day for an 8,000 pound skidsteer 200.00$             ‐$                   79.00$              ‐$                 

36 Cost per day for 10,000 pound Lull (or equivelant) 300.00$             ‐$                   60.00$              ‐$                 

37 Cost per day for an 8,000 pound excavator 300.00$             ‐$                   60.00$              ‐$                 
Optional Tasks Totals ‐$                   ‐$                 

Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

38

Minimal land clearing (grub roots, light brush, small trees up to 
6" trunk diameter), cut/fill, and normal soil: Cost per square foot 
to clear. 1.30$                  ‐$                    1.00$                 ‐$                  

39
Moderate land clearing (medium brush and trees up to 12" trunk 
diameter), cut/fill, and/or poor soil: Cost per square foot to clear. 1.30$                  ‐$                    1.00$                 ‐$                  

40

Extensive land clearing (clear heavily wooded area and pull 
stumps), cut/fill, and steep grade, e.g. mountain site access: 
Cost per square foot to clear. 1.30$                  ‐$                    1.00$                 ‐$                  

Access Road Totals ‐$                    ‐$                  

Land Clearing for 20' access road

040125 BCC Meeting

54



Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

41 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 4" culvert. 112.50$             ‐$                   180.00$            ‐$                 

42 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 6" culvert. 193.50$             ‐$                   180.00$            ‐$                 

43 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 8" culvert. 364.50$             ‐$                   180.00$            ‐$                 

44 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 10" culvert. 481.50$             ‐$                   225.00$            ‐$                 

45 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 12" culvert. 463.50$             ‐$                   225.00$            ‐$                 

46 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 15" culvert. 621.00$             ‐$                   270.00$            ‐$                 

47 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 24" culvert. 874.80$             ‐$                   315.00$            ‐$                 

48 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 30" culvert. 1,503.00$         ‐$                   450.00$            ‐$                 

49 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 36" culvert. 1,471.50$         ‐$                   540.00$            ‐$                 

Culverts/Site Drainage Totals ‐$                   ‐$                 

Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

50
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 1.5" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 12.60$                ‐$                    7.20$                 ‐$                  

51
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 2" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 12.60$                ‐$                    7.20$                 ‐$                  

52
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 3" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 12.60$                ‐$                    7.20$                 ‐$                  

53
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 4" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 14.85$                ‐$                    7.20$                 ‐$                  

Underground Conduit Totals: ‐$                   ‐$                 

Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

54 Mobilization cost for a 2-man crew for 1/2 day rate 1,068.75$        ‐$                 

55 Mobilization cost for a 2-man crew for FULL day rate 2,137.50$        ‐$                 

56 Mobilization cost for a 4-man crew for 1/2 day rate 2,137.50$        ‐$                 

57 Mobilization cost for a 4-man crew for Full day rate 4,275.00$        ‐$                 
Mobilization Totals: ‐$                 

Total Job Materials cost

Total Job Labor cost

Total ‐$                 

N/A

‐$                                                                                                                                                                            

‐$                                                                                                                                                                            

Underground Conduit

Mobilization Cost

Culverts and Site Drainage - Cost to provide and install HDPE double wall corrugated pipe with smooth interior wall. Inlet/Outlet protection stone material and 
installation shall be priced using appropriate lines above.

040125 BCC Meeting

55



Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

11
Cost to apply for and obtain a building permit from the local 
jurisdiction (please include the Fee in your Labor cost). N/A N/A N/A 6 500.00$              3,000.00$          

12

Cost per tree removal and disposal based on a tree with a 3' 
diameter. This work is not part of the SOW in the "Complete 
Site Installation" and "Land Clearing for 20' access road".  10 2,070.00$         20,700.00$       10 517.50$              5,175.00$          

13

Cost per linear foot to supply and install a 7ft compound 
fence or 6ft fence with 2ft barbed wire. The fencing shall be of 
adequate grade to allow exothermic bonding (cad weld) of a 
ground conductor to the fence post.    300 51.75$               15,525.00$       300 15.52$                4,656.00$          

14

Cost to supply and install 16-ft double gate. The gate shall be 
of adequate grade to allow exothermic bonding (cad weld) of a 
ground conductor to the gate. 2 2,588.00$         5,176.00$         2 1,552.00$           3,104.00$          

15
Cost to supply and install 8' copper ground rod and 16’ of #2 
tinned solid conductor. 50 100.80$             5,040.00$         50 18.00$                900.00$             

16
Cost to supply and install 10' horizontal chemically enhanced 
grounding rod system (per chem rod). 20 2,250.00$         45,000.00$       20 450.00$              9,000.00$          

17

Cost per square foot to supply and install Geo Tech fabric 
for work outside the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed 
above. 6,250 0.31$                 1,937.50$         6,250 0.09$                   562.50$             

18
Cost per ton to supply and install #57 stone for work outside 
the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above. 230 50.40$               11,592.00$       230 18.00$                4,140.00$          

19
Cost per ton to supply and install crush and run for work 
outside the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above. 500 50.40$               25,200.00$       500 18.00$                9,000.00$          

20
Cost per ton to supply and install riprap for work outside the 
“Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above 250 50.40$               12,600.00$       250 18.00$                4,500.00$          

21
Cost per square yard to supply and install seed and straw 
outside compound where required. 225 1.27$                 285.75$             225 0.18$                   40.50$               

22
Cost per cubic yard to supply and install additional fill 
needed for backfill and site grading. 250 31.50$               7,875.00$         250 18.00$                4,500.00$          

23
Cost per foot to supply and install of silt fencing (wire mesh & 
metal posts). 300 1.04$                 312.00$             300 1.13$                   339.00$             

24
Cost per foot to supply and install silt fencing (fabric & 
wooden post). 0.95$                 ‐$                   1.13$                   ‐$                    

Civil Contract Itemized Quote

Site(s) Name: Rich Mountain

Contract costs ‐ West site (fill in yellow highlighted boxes ONLY)

040125 BCC Meeting

56



25

Cost to supply and install COPS connector and three pole 
double throw switch on buildings without COPS connector. 
Receptacle shall be an Appleton PN ADJA20044-250. 2,700.00$         ‐$                   1,350.00$           ‐$                    

26
Cost to supply and plant 1 landscape greenery (this could be 
anything from a shrub, bush, tree, etc. in any size). 18.00$               ‐$                   9.00$                   ‐$                    

27

Cost to supply and install gravel for a 25’ x 40’ turnaround 
area outside fence gate on existing or expanding site for work 
outside the “Complete Site Installation” Scope listed above. 1 1,710.00$         1,710.00$         1 621.00$              621.00$             

28

Cost to have a licensed HVAC mechanic replace existing wall 
mounted WA series Bard HVAC with same series Bard 
supplied by owner; cost includes any materials/supplies and 
labor for the job. 200.00$             ‐$                   500.00$              ‐$                    

29 Cost to replace a 40kW generator at an existing site per SOW 1 2,250.00$         2,250.00$         1 2,700.00$           2,700.00$          

30
Cost to replace a 100kW generator on an existing site per 
SOW 2,250.00$         ‐$                   2,700.00$           ‐$                    

31
Cost to replace a transfer switch for a 40kW generator per 
SOW 1 450.00$             450.00$             1 1,350.00$           1,350.00$          

32
Cost to replace a transfer switch for a 100kW generator per 
SOW 450.00$             ‐$                   1,575.00$           ‐$                    

33 Cost per day for a 120 ton crane 6,000.00$        ‐$                  750.00$             ‐$                   

34 Cost per day for a CAT D6 (or equivelant) bulldozer 16 1,000.00$        16,000.00$       16 215.00$             3,440.00$         

35 Cost per day for an 8,000 pound skidsteer 45 200.00$            9,000.00$        45 79.00$               3,555.00$         

36 Cost per day for 10,000 pound Lull (or equivelant) 30 300.00$            9,000.00$        30 60.00$               1,800.00$         

37 Cost per day for an 8,000 pound excavator 30 300.00$            9,000.00$        30 60.00$               1,800.00$         
Optional Tasks Totals 198,653.25$     64,183.00$      

Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

38

Minimal land clearing (grub roots, light brush, small trees up to 
6" trunk diameter), cut/fill, and normal soil: Cost per square foot 
to clear. 1.30$                 ‐$                   1.00$                   ‐$                    

39

Moderate land clearing (medium brush and trees up to 12" 
trunk diameter), cut/fill, and/or poor soil: Cost per square foot to 
clear. 1.30$                 ‐$                   1.00$                   ‐$                    

40

Extensive land clearing (clear heavily wooded area and pull 
stumps), cut/fill, and steep grade, e.g. mountain site access: 
Cost per square foot to clear. 2000 1.30$                 2,600.00$         2000 1.00$                   2,000.00$          

Access Road Totals 2,600.00$         2,000.00$          

Land Clearing for 20' access road

040125 BCC Meeting

57



Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

41 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 4" culvert. 112.50$            ‐$                  180.00$             ‐$                   

42 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 6" culvert. 193.50$            ‐$                  180.00$             ‐$                   

43 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 8" culvert. 364.50$            ‐$                  180.00$             ‐$                   

44 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 10" culvert. 481.50$            ‐$                  225.00$             ‐$                   

45 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 12" culvert. 463.50$            ‐$                  225.00$             ‐$                   

46 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 15" culvert. 621.00$            ‐$                  270.00$             ‐$                   

47 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 24" culvert. 874.80$            ‐$                  315.00$             ‐$                   

48 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 30" culvert. 1,503.00$        ‐$                  450.00$             ‐$                   

49 Cost per 20' section to supply and install 36" culvert. 1,471.50$        ‐$                  540.00$             ‐$                   

Culverts/Site Drainage Totals ‐$                  ‐$                   

Qty. Material Material Total Material Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

50
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 1.5" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 200 12.60$               2,520.00$         200 7.20$                   1,440.00$          

51
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 2" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 280 12.60$               3,528.00$         280 7.20$                   2,016.00$          

52
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 3" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 200 12.60$               2,520.00$         200 7.20$                   1,440.00$          

53
Cost per linear foot to supply and install 4" SCH 40 
underground conduit. 200 14.85$               2,970.00$         200 7.20$                   1,440.00$          

Underground Conduit Totals: 11,538.00$       6,336.00$         

Qty. Labor Labor Total Labor

54 Mobilization cost for a 2-man crew for 1/2 day rate 1,068.75$          ‐$                   

55 Mobilization cost for a 2-man crew for FULL day rate 4 2,137.50$          8,550.00$         

56 Mobilization cost for a 4-man crew for 1/2 day rate 2,137.50$          ‐$                   

57 Mobilization cost for a 4-man crew for Full day rate 50 4,275.00$          213,750.00$    
Mobilization Totals: 222,300.00$    

Total Job Materials cost

Total Job Labor cost

212,791.25$                                                                                                                                                                 

294,819.00$                                                                                                                                                                 

N/A

Underground Conduit

Mobilization Cost

Culverts and Site Drainage - Cost to provide and install HDPE double wall corrugated pipe with smooth interior wall. Inlet/Outlet protection stone material and 
installation shall be priced using appropriate lines above.

040125 BCC Meeting

58



AGENDA ITEM 8: 

EMERGENCY SERVICES MATTERS: 
B. Hurricane Helene Update 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Mr. Will Holt, Emergency Services Director, will provide the Board with a Hurricane Helene 
update.  The report is for information only; therefore, no action is required at this time.  
  

040125 BCC Meeting

59



Watauga County Emergency Services 
184 Hodges Gap Rd, Suite D 

Boone, NC 28607 
Phone 828-264-4235 

Fax 828-265-7617 
 

Fire Marshal ♦ Emergency Management ♦ Communications 
 

March 26th, 2024 
 
To:  Board of Commissioners 
 
CC: Deron Geouque, County Manager 

Anita Fogle, Clerk to the Board 
 
 
Subject: Helene Update 
 
Board of Commissioners, 
 
I would like to offer a brief update on the status of recovery in Watauga County from the Emergency 
Services perspective. Before going any further, I would like to personally express my deep gratitude to the 
multitude of individuals and organizations that have stepped up to lead the way in various aspects of 
recovery including rebuilding of our citizen’s personal property and businesses. A few key points: 

- County staff continue to work with our insurance provider on coverage limits and settlements. 
We have started to receive determination letters and coverage approvals for several properties 
with clarification requested on some projects. 

- Right-of-Way debris removal continues and new debris placement ended March 2nd.An extension 
has been discussed for the ROW process due to the contractor needing more time to remove 
what is existing in the ROW now. 

- Waterway and private property debris removal operations with the Corps of Engineers (USACE) 
has been approved and have begun. Aerostar and TetraTech are leading the intake process, Right 
of Entry acquisition, and site assessments for the Private Property Debris Removal (PPDR) 
program. Bering Strait is the prime contractor for the actual debris removal work.  

- Staff completed over 600 assessments on waterways to give multiple State and federal partners 
access to raw data to determine eligibility for Category A (USACE debris removal), EWP, or other 
potential programs being discussed. At time of this report, a total of 412 sites have been approved 
by FEMA. We appreciate the incredible work of our Soil and Water staff and those who partnered 
with them in this process. 

- The OSBM/NCEM Private Road and Bridge program has been partially funded through HB47. This 
program is designed to duplicate the success seen in the southwest part of the State during the 
2022 TS Fred floods, however continued funding will be critical to long term success. 

- Hagerty Consulting is on the ground and working with staff to complete PA projects 
- As a point of success, DSA and he DRC teams have largely completed their work in Watauga 

County but will have staff available for any issues that arise. The DRC is transitioning to a Multi-
Agency Resource Center (MARC) as FEMA continues to plan for long-term recovery. Teams 
registered thousands of individuals and helped put more than $19M at time of report into the 
hands of our citizens to begin their recovery.  

040125 BCC Meeting

60



Watauga County Emergency Services 
184 Hodges Gap Rd, Suite D 

Boone, NC 28607 
Phone 828-264-4235 

Fax 828-265-7617 
 

Fire Marshal ♦ Emergency Management ♦ Communications 
 

- The deadline for organizations to apply for Public Assistance (PA) and individuals to apply for 
assistance (IA) have both been extended to April 7th, 2025 

The Emergency Services Department is grateful for the partnership with our local, State, and federal 
partners specifically as they focus efforts to get money flowing into our community to restore what was 
lost and also build an even more resilient future. 

 
Respectfully, 
 

 
Will Holt 
ES Director 

040125 BCC Meeting

61



Blank Page 
 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

62



AGENDA ITEM 9: 

TAX MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATES, INC., BUSINESS PERSONAL PROPERTY AUDIT 
SERVICES CONTRACT 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Tyler Rash, Tax Administrator, will request the Board approve additional funds in the amount 
$23,400 to Tax Management Associates for property auditing services.  Staff is confident that once 
the audits are completed that additional revenue will be received to cover the additional expense.  
The additional funds will come from the administrative contingency fund.  
 
Board action is required to approve the additional amount of $23,400 to Tax Management 
Associates for property auditing services.   
 
 
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

63



040125 BCC Meeting

64



040125 BCC Meeting

65



040125 BCC Meeting

66



040125 BCC Meeting

67



040125 BCC Meeting

68



040125 BCC Meeting

69



040125 BCC Meeting

70



AGENDA ITEM 10: 

MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
A. Proposed Valle Crucis School Change Order #5 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
County Manager Geouque will request the Board approve Change Order #5 for the Valle Crucis 
Elementary School in the amount of $39,488.12.  Detail regarding the change order is attached.  
The County is still running a negative change order amount and the adoption of this change order 
will bring the amount to $246,111.29. 
 
Board action is required to adopt Change Order #5 as presented.   
  

040125 BCC Meeting

71



 

 

 

301 College Street, Suite 300 

Asheville, NC 28801 

clarknexsen.com 

 March 27, 2025 

 

Watauga County Manager 

814 West King Street  

Suite 205 

Boone, NC 28607 

 

Attn: Mr. Deron Geouque   

County Manager 

RE: VALLE CRUCIS ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 

 
Dear Deron, 

 

The following is a summary of Change Order 05 from H&M Constructors for Valle Crucis School.  The H&M 

provided backup was forwarded in multiple packages via email. 

 

COR #12: $24,541.74  Change to bridge abutments and additional site wall and     

wing walls per Revision 9 and returned bridge abutment 

shop drawings 

COR #25:  $2,058.45  ADA lift at stage with full height doors and power door  

actuators 

COR #52:   (-$21,189.41) Deleted skylight and framing 

COR #65:  $4,028.43  Increased the flow rate to 50 GPM for the manganese water  

treatment  

COR #66:  $2,022.98  Addition of eyewash station at Health Room 

COR #67:  $ (-$1,009.80) Credit for switching from Bituthene to Tremco TREMproof  

250 at foundation walls  

COR #68:  $2,397.69  Room 118:  Removed tall cabinets and replaced with 2 base  

cabinets, countertop, and mailbox unit 

COR #69:  $730.62   Added 2 bike racks 

COR #70:  $1,934.92  Added HSS steel posts for reception desk sliding window  

support 

COR #74:  $1,567.31  Fire alarm relay for interface with magnetic contactor in  

HVLS fan power circuit required by code 

COR #76:  $697.86   Connected waterline to fire tank, stub out of fire tank for fire  

Hydrant per request of Fire Marshal 

COR #81:  $1,080.00  Wall relocation for fire pump 

COR #83:  $4,499.76  Plumbing revisions per Revision 18 

COR #85:  $1,683.00  Gym floor striping updates per School comments 

COR #88 R-2: $7,209.99  Updates to casework per FFE/ School coordination 

  

040125 BCC Meeting

72



 

 

301 College Street, Suite 300 

Asheville, NC 28801 

clarknexsen.com  

COR #92:  $2,411.62  Epoxy countertops in lieu of plastic laminate in Science Prep 

Room 

COR #93:  $1,303.24  Rework wall and ceiling at ductwork at 156  

COR #105: $3,341.32  Added pipe insulation and jacket to fire sprinkler tank  

exterior piping 

COR #106: $178.40   Cap vent line and install studor vent for mop sink 

 

 

We continue to appreciate the opportunity to work with Watauga County and look forward to the successful 

completion of the project.     Should you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact us. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

CLARK NEXSEN 

 

Eve Szentesi, AIA, LEED AP BD+C    

040125 BCC Meeting

73



Document G701· - ·201-7 
Change Order 

PROJECT: (Name and address) 
Valle Crucis Elementary School 
Sugar Grove, NC 

OWNER: (Name and address) 
Watauga County 
814 W. King Street 
Boone, NC 28607 

THE CONTRACT IS CHANGED AS FOLLOWS: 

CONTRACT INFORMATION: 
Contract For. General Construction 

Date: 211412023 

ARCHITECT: (Name and address) 
Clarlt Nexsen 
301 College Street 
Suite 300 
Asheville, NC 28801 

CHANGE ORDER INFORMATION: 
Change Order Number: 005 

Date: 1121/2025 

CONTRACTOR: (Name and address) 
H&M Constructors, a Division of MB 
Haynes Corporation 
187 Dcaverview Road 
Asheville, NC 28806 

(Insert a tktai/ed description of the change and, if applicable, attach or reference specific exhibits. Also include agreed upon adjustments 
attributable to executed Construction Change Directives.) 

COR #12: $24,541.74 
COR #25: $2,058.45 
COR #52: (-$21,189.41) 
COR #65: $4,028.43 
COR #66: $2,022.98 
COR #67: (-$1,009.80) 
COR #68: $2,397.69 
COR #69: $730.62 
COR #70: $1,934.92 
COR#74: $1,567.31 
COR#76: $697.86 
COR#81: $1,080.00 
COR#83: $4,499.76 
COR #85: $1,683.00 
COR #88 R-2: $7,209.99 
COR#92: $2,411.62 
COR#93: $1,303.24 
COR#105: $3,341.32 
COR#l06: $178.40 

The original Contract Sum was 
The net change by previously authoriud Change Orders 
The Contract Sum prior to this Change Order was 
The Contract Sum will be inc:rcascd by this Change Order in the amount of 
The new Contract Sum including this Change Order will be 

The Contract Time will be 1Illchangcd by ( ) days. 
The new date of Substantial Completion will be December 22, 2024 

$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 

47,874,600.00 
-285,599.41 

47,589 .000.59 
39.488.12 

47,628,488.71 

NOTE: This Change Order does not include adjustment! to the Contract Sum or Guaranteed Maximum Price, or the Contract 
Time, that have been authorized by Construction Change Directive until the cost and time have been agreed upon by both the 
Owner and Contractor, in which case a Change Order is executed to supersede the Construction Change Directive. 

AIA Document G701 - 2017. Copyr111ht C 1979, 1987. 2000, 2001 and 2017. All rights raseivad. "The American lnslltllte of An:hllacts," "American lnstftuta or 
Architects,• "IJA." Ille PJA Logo, and "AJA Contract Documents• are trademarks of The American Institute of Archltacts. This document was produced at 15:17:47 1 
ET on 01/21/2025 under Order No..3104240247 which expires on 04/'22/2025, Is not tor resale, is llcensed for one-time use only, and mey only be used in 
acccrdance with the A!A Contract OoaJmen~ Temia of Service. To report copyright vlolatlons, e-mail docinfo@aiaconlracl&.com. 
Unr Notes: (389AOA42) 

040125 BCC Meeting

74



NOT VALID UNTIL SIGNED BY THE ARCHITECT, CONTRACTOR AND OWNER. 

Eve Szentesi, AIA, LEED AP BD+C 

Senior Architect 
PRINTED NAME AND TITLE 

1/21/2025 
DATE 

H&M Constructors 

co~ 
SIGNA 

6 {2.L5G. 8DRrJcA1 
519-J 101<. y. f. 

PRINTED NAME AND TITLE 

~-rs--ci.? 
DATE 

This insb\lment hasJ>eeo preaudited in the manner 
required by the loCai Govemment Budget and Fiscal 
Control Act. 

Date 

}).e,fo~ Gec[j;tA-V Cou-r-4y ~~ 
PRINTED NAME AND TIT 

3-zs-2025 
DATE 

AIA Document G701 - 2017. Copyright© 1979, 1987, 2000 , 2001 and 2.017. All rights reserved. "The American lnslituta of Architects," "Ameilcan Institute of 
An::hiteds," "NA," the AJA Logo, and "AIA Contract Documents• era tradamark& of The American lns1!tute of Architects. This document was produced at 15:17:47 2 
ET on 0112112025 under Order No.31 ll4240247 which expires on 04/22/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used In 
accordance with the AIA Contract Documen!E9 Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, 1:>-mall docinfo@aiacontracts.com. 
Uur Notes: (3B9ADM2) 

040125 BCC Meeting

75



Blank Page 
 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

76



AGENDA ITEM 10: 

MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
B. Resolution to Partner with The Town of Boone Establishing a Bridge to Link County 

and Town Properties Located at Brookshire Park and Ted Mackorell Soccer Complex   

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
The Town of Boone is requesting to partner with the County regarding a bridge at the Brookshire 
Park and Ted Mackorell Soccer Complex connecting to the Town’s property.   
 
Board action is required to adopt the resolution as presented.   
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

77



 
 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
 

COUNTY OF WATAUGA 
 
 

Resolution to Partner with The Town of Boone 
Establishing a Bridge to Link County and Town Properties 

Located at Brookshire Park and Ted Mackorell Soccer Complex 
 
 

WHEREAS; Watauga County and the Town of Boone own property on each side of the 
South Fork of the New River located at Brookshire Park and Ted Mackorell Soccer Complex; and 

 
WHEREAS; the County maintains the Brookshire Park, Ted Mackorell Soccer Complex, and 

a greenway trail that connects to the Town’s greenway system; and 
 
WHEREAS; the property is heavily utilized for recreation and bridging the properties will 

expand the recreational opportunities for the community and visitors; and 
 
WHEREAS; the County and the Town partnered in 2021 with the New River Conservancy 

to restore 1,700 linear feet of the river; and 
 
WHEREAS; the partnership of the County and the Town to restore portions of the New 

River in 2021 reduced the damage to the river by Hurricane Helene; and 
 
WHEREAS; the “County-Town Bridge” will commemorate all of the efforts to rescue, 

recover, restore, and renew our community from the impact of Hurricane Helene. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the Watauga County Board of Commissioners 

agrees to work in conjunction with the Town of Boone to identify a location and grant funding to 
establish the “County-Town Bridge” in the area of the Brookshire Park and Ted Mackorell Soccer 
Complex.   
 

ADOPTED this the 1st day of April, 2025. 
 
\ 
 

 
__________________________________ 
Braxton Eggers, Chairman  
Watauga County Board of Commissioners 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Anita Fogle, Clerk to the Board 

 

040125 BCC Meeting

78



AGENDA ITEM 10: 

MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
C. Resolution to Approve North Carolina Cashflow Loan Agreement and Promissory Note   

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 

Board action is required to approve the resolution for the North Carolina Cashflow Loan 
Agreement and Promissory Note.  The program would allow the County to use the monies to front 
payment of Hurricane Helene damages until FEMA reimbursements are received.  The County is 
currently eligible for $895,477.60  The loan is interest free and would be a significant tool in the 
County’s cash flow management.   

Board action is required to adopt the resolution as presented.  

040125 BCC Meeting

79



 
 
 
 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
 

COUNTY OF WATAUGA 
 

Resolution 
To Approve North Carolina Cashflow Loan Agreement and Promissory Note 

 
WHEREAS, in connection with the State of North Carolina Cashflow Loan Program (Loan 

Program) authorized by the Disaster Recovery Act of 2024, Session Law 2024-53 (as amended by 
Session Law 2024-57), the North Carolina Department of State Treasurer has been working with 
the North Carolina Department of Public Safety-Division of Emergency Management (NCEM), the 
North Carolina Association of County Commissioners (NCACC), and the North Carolina League of 
Municipalities (NCLM) to formulate a working plan for the disbursement of cashflow loans aimed 
at assisting local governments affected by Hurricane Helene; and 

 
WHEREAS, local governments wishing to participate in the Loan Program are required to 

execute a Cashflow Loan Agreement and Promissory Note with the State of North Carolina, by 
and through the North Carolina Department of the State Treasurer. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Watauga County Board of Commissioners: 

 
1. That the Cashflow Loan Agreement and Promissory Note provided by the North 

Carolina Department of the State Treasurer are hereby approved. 
 

2. That the Manager, Clerk, or Authorized Representative of a Tribal Government is 
authorized to execute the attached agreements (or those substantially equivalent 
thereto) and such other agreements and actions as necessary to receive disaster 
recovery loan funding from the State of North Carolina. 
 

ADOPTED this the 1st day of April, 2025. 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Braxton Eggers, Chairman  
Watauga County Board of Commissioners 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 

__________________________________ 
Anita Fogle, Clerk to the Board 

 

040125 BCC Meeting

80



This contract has been pre-audited as required 
by the Local G overnment Budget and Fiscal Control Act 

Finance Officer 

STATE CASHFLOW LOANS FOR DISASTER RESPONSE ACTIVITIES TO LOCAL 
GOVERNMENTS 

LOAN AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN 

THE STATE OF NORTH CA ROLINA (BY AND THROUGH THE D E PARTME NT OF STAT E 
TREASURER) 

AND 
THE COUNTY OF WATAU GA, NORTH C1\.ROLINA 

Loan Round: Round 1 
Loan Number: Helene5194 R1000000000 
Loan Date: 
Loan Round Amount: $895,477.60 

REPAYMENT TERMS: 

• $1 by the first anniversary of the Loan Date 

• 10% of the Loan Round Amount on June 30, 2027 

• 20% of the Loan Round Amount on June 30, 2028 

• 30% of the Loan Round Amount June 30, 2029 

• 40% (less $1) of the Loan Round Amount on the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the 
Loan Date or June 30, 2030. 

Recipient Tax ID /EIN: ___________ _ 

PURPOSE: 
For good and valuable consideration, the adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, this loan agreement 
("Agreement") is hereby entered into by and between the State o f North Carolina, by and through the 1\:o rth Carolina 
D epartment of State Treasurer ("NCDST") , and the County of Watauga, North Carolina ("RECIPIE NT") 
(referred to individually as Party and collectively as "Parties") to provide N CDST cashflow loans for disaster response 
activities to local governments, in accordance with Section 4E.5. o f N orth Carolina Session Law 2024-53, as modified 
by Sectio n 1F.1 of North Carolina Sessio n Law 2024-57 (together, as amended, the "Authorizing Act") . 

1. EFFECTIVE TERM: 

This Agreement shall be effective as o f the lates t date of signature below ("Effective Date") and, subj ect to Section 
15, shall terminate upon full repayment of the loan proceeds to NCDST, unless earlier terminated pursuant to 
Section 9. 

2. NCDST'S DUTIES & PAYMENT PROVISIONS: 

NCDST shall loan RECIPIENT a to tal o f $895,477.60 to pay for RECIPIENT'S disas ter respo nse activities as 
se t forth in FEM!\ Public Assistance Worksheets. This principal-only loan does no t carry interes t charges or 
administrative fees . Upon signature o f thi s Agreement by the Parties, the fund s will promptly be transferred to 

1 of 1 O 

Sta te Cashflo\v Loan s for Disas ter Response Activiti es to Local Governn1ents 

040125 BCC Meeting

81



RE CIPIE NT via wire/ ACH transfer to the RE CIPIE NT'S account, pursuant to the written bank wtnng 
instructions that RECIPIENT must submit to the NCDST as provided in Section 3.a. below. 

3. RECIPIENT'S DUTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS: 

a. As soon as reasonably practicable following its receipt of this Agreement, RECIPIENT shall 
provide each of the following to NCDST: (a) a certified copy of a resolution authoring execution of 
the Agreement and Promissory Note in the form set forth in Attachment A; (b) an executed copy 
of this Agreement; ( c) an executed Promissory Note in the form set forth in Attachment B; and ( d) 
the completed NCDST Hurricane Helene Cashflow Loan Program Wire Form enclosed as 
Attachment C, signed and certified by the appropriate official of RECIPIENT. 

b. Before and during the term of this Agreement, RECIPIENT will use or has used loan proceeds to cover 
expenditures for disas ter response activities, which may be expenditures that are eligible for reimbursement 
by the Federal E mergency Management Agency (FEMA) Public Assistance Program, N atio nal Flood 
Insurance Program , or other federal reimbursement p rogram. 

c. Bo th N CDST and RE CIPIE NT agree that this Agreement shall be interpreted as to not diminish or impair 
RECIPIENT's eligibility to secure FEMA or related recovery funding support. 

d. RECIPIENT shall make every reasonable effort to seek reimbursement from the federal government for 
expenditures that will be temporarily covered by loan proceeds under this Agreement. 

e. Not\vithstanding the Repayment T erms as stated on Page 1 o f this Agreement, if RECIPIE NT receives 
funding support from the federal government for expenditures covered under the FEMf\ Public Assistance 
Worksheets used as the basis fo r this Agreement, RECIPIE NT shall repay NCDST the equivalent amount 
o f loan proceeds within five (5) business days of receipt of the federal fund ing support. 

f. RECIPIENT agrees that loan proceeds received through this Agreement sha!J be accounted for in a separate 
fund and accounting structure within RE CIPIE NT's central acco unting sys tem. RE CIPIE NT agrees to 
manage all acco unts payable disbursements, check register disbursements, and related transactions in a 
detailed manner that supports fully transparent accounting of all financial transactions associated with loan 
funding allocations described in Section 2 o f this Agreement. RECIPIENT understands and acknowledges 
the total direct loan funding level available under thi s Agreement is $895,477.60. 

g. As provided in the Authorizing Act: 

(i) RECIPIENT agrees to delive r repayment installments o f the loan proceeds in the amounts and by the 
elates se t forth in the Repayment T erms recited on Page 1 above, which are hereby incorporated by 
reference. Further, RECIPIENT understands and agrees that all loan proceeds provided to 
RECIPIENT under this Agreement mu st be repaid no later than the earlier of the fo!Jowing 1:\vo dates : 
(a) the fi ve-year anniversary o f the Loan D ate; o r (b) June 30, 3030. 

(ii) RECIPIENT shall use bes t efforts and take all reasonable steps to obtain alternative fund s that cover 
the losses or needs fo r which the loan proceeds are being provided, including fund s from insurance 
policies in effect, available federal aid, and private donatio ns. RECIPIENT understands and agrees 
that the loan proceeds paid to RECIPIE NT pursuant to this Agreement are in excess of any fund s 
received by RECIPIENT fro m any o f the fo llowing: (a) settlement o f a claim for loss o r damage 
covered under RECIPIENT's applicable insurance policy in effect; (b) federal aid; or (c) private 
donations. 

(iii) If RECIPIE NT obtains alternative fund s pursuant to subdivision (ii) o f this subsection g., 
RECIPIENT shall promptly remit such fund s to NCDST. N o twithstanding the preceding sentence, 

2of10 

State Cas hflow Loans for Disas ter Response Activities to Local Gove rnments 

040125 BCC Meeting

82



RECIPIENT shall not be required to repay to NCDST any amount in excess over the amount o f loan 
proceeds provided under this Agreement. 

4. AGREEMENT ADMINISTRATORS: 

All notices permitted or required to be given by one Party to the other and all ques tions about the Agreement 
from one Party to the other shall be addressed and deli ve red to the other Party's Agreement Administrator. The 
name, post office address, stree t address, telephone number, fax number, and email address of the Parties' 
respective initial Agreement Administrators are se t out below. Either Party may change the name, post o ffice 
address, street address, telephone number, fax number, or email address of its Agreement Administrator by giving 
timely written notice to the other Party. 

ForNCDST 

IF D ELIVERED BY US POSTAL SERVICE IF D ELIVERED BY ANY OTH E R MEANS 

J effrey A. Poley Jeffrey A. Poley 
Director of Disaster Services and Rural Economic Director of Disaster Services and Rural Economic 

Development D evelopment 
Office o f the State Treas urer Office o f the State Treasurer 
3200 Atlantic Avenue 3200 A tlantic Avenue 
Raleigh, North Carolina 27604 Raleigh, North Carolina 27604 
Phone: (919) 500-0855 Phone: (919) 500-0855 
E mail: helenecashflowloans@nctreasurer.com E mail: helenecashflowloans@nctreasurer.com 

For RECIPIENT 

IF D ELIVERED BY US POSTAL SERVICE IF DELIVERED BY A1'.1Y OTHER MEANS 

Name Name 

Title Title 

Address Address 

Email Email 

Phone Phone 

5. MONITORING AND AUDITING: 

RECIPIENT acknowledges and agrees that, commencing on the Effective Date of thi s Agreement and for a 
period o f three (3) years following this Agreement's termination, RECIPIE NT's books, records, documents and 
facijjties with respect to th e loan fund s shall be open to NCDST for auditing, inspection and monitoring at all 
times during such period. Further, upon a request for access by NCDST (whether in writing or otherwise), 
RECIPIENT shall make all such books, records, documents, and facilities open to NCDST fo r inspection. To 
that encl, RECIPIENT agrees to provide NCDST staff, any authorized agent or oth er designee of NCDST, and 

3 of 10 

Sta te Cas hflo\v Loans for Disas te r Response Activities to Local Govcrmnents 

040125 BCC Meeting

83



staff o f the Office o f State Auditor, as applicable, with access to financial and accounting records to support 
internal audit, financial reporting and related requirements. 

RE CIPIE NT acknowledges and agrees that, with regard to the Loan funds, it will be subject to the audit and 
reporting requirements prescribed by N .C.G.S. § 159-34 (Annual independent audit; rules and regulations) within 
the Local G overnment Budget and Fiscal Control Act. Such audit and reporting requirements may vary depending 
upon the amount and source o f Loan funding received by RECIPIE NT and are subject to change. 

RECIPIE NT acknowledges and agrees that, with regard to the loan funds, it will be subject to the reporting 
requirements of both NCDST and the N orth Carolina Office o f Budget and Management, as mandated by those 
agencies from time to time, as applicable. 

6. SITUS AND EXCLUSIVE VENUE: 

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws o f North Carolina and any claim for breach o r enforcement o f this 
Agreement shall be fil ed in State court in Wake County, North Carolina. 

7. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW: 

RECIPIENT shall be wholly responsible for the loan terms and RECIPIE NT's responsibilities described in this 
Agreement. RECIPIE NT shall be responsible for supervision o f any o f its employees and co ntractors funded 
under this J\ greement, and compliance with all laws, ordinances, codes, rules, regulations, licensing requirements 
and other regulatory matters that are applicable to the conduct of their loan performance under this Agreement, 
including those o f Federal, State, and local agencies having appropriate jurisdiction. RECIPIENT is reminded 
that all fund s are subj ect to the requirements of the Local G overnment Budget and Fiscal Control Act, including 
but no t limited to all budgeting and pre-audit requirements. 

8. CLAW-BACK; OFFSET: 

a. N CDST may also demand repayment o f previously expended funds, and RECIPIE NT must comply with such 
a demand, in the event N CDST determines that RE CIPIENT has not spent loan fund s on eligible uses set 
forth in the FE.NIA pro ject worksheets used to determine the Loan Round Amount, or ifNCDST determines 
that RECIPIENT has not materially complied with any other requirements set forth in this Agreement 
concerning the loan funds (generally, "N on-Compliance") . Before making a formal demand for repayment as 
provided in this subsection, NCDST will provide RECIPIENT thirty (30) days' written notice to cure such 
N on-Co mpliance, and the Parties will make every reasonable effort to resolve the problem info rmally. 

b. In the event the Parties are unable to resolve RE CIPIENT's N on-Compliance as provided in sub section a. 
above, RECIPIE NT understands and agrees that, pursuant to N.C. G en. Stat.§ 147-71, the State Treasurer is 
authorized to demand, sue for, collect and receive all money and property o f the State no t held by some person 
under authority o f law. In addition, RECIPIE NT understands and agrees that N COST shall have the right to 
recoup any fund s for which repayment has been demanded through the Setoff D ebt Collection Act (Chapter 
1 OSA of the North Caro lina G eneral Statutes) and any other provision of State law providing for setoff debt 
collection, as applicable. 

9. TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT: 

Subject to Section 15, thi s J\ greement may be terminated: 

a. By mutual written consent o f the Parties; 
b. By N CDST fo r cause, if: (i) RECIPIE NT violates the terms of this Agreement and RECIPIE NT fails to 

correct the violation(s) within thirty (30) days o f written notice of violation fro m N CDST; (ii) NCDST 
determines RECIPIE NT has made a misrepresentation in connection with this loan; o r (iii) RECIPIENT 

4 of 10 

State Cashflo\v Lo an s for Disaste r Res po nse Activities to Local Gove rnm ents 

040125 BCC Meeting

84



abandons o r o therwise ceases to make reasonable progress towards completion o f the disaster respo nse 
activities funded by this Agreement; or 

c. In the event that RECIPIENT repays the loan amount in full prio r to the fifth annive rsary o f the Loan 
D ate. 

In the event of terminatio n, NCDST may require the return o f un spent fund s. NCDST may, in its sole discretion, 
allow RECIPIE NT to retain o r be reimbursed for cos ts reasonably incurred prio r to termination that were not 
made in anticipation o f termination and cannot be canceled, provided that said cos ts mee t the provisions of this 
Agreement. 

10. AMENDMENTS: 

Subject to all applicable laws, this Agreement m ay be amended in writing, executed by both NCDST and 
RE CIPIENT. If RECIPIE NT reques ts revisions of Agreement terms, it shall provide to NCDST for review and 
approval a detailed written reques t that includes documented financial management reason(s) for amending the 
terms o f this Agreement. 

11. E-VERIFY: 

If this Agreement is subj ect to N. C. G en. Stat. § 143-133.3, RECIPIENT shall impose the obligations of Article 
2 o f Chapter 64 o f th e G eneral Statutes on any contracto r and its subcontracto rs funded by this Agreement. 

12. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS: 

RECIPIENT will hold NCDST harmless from any loss(es) o r damage(s) ansing 111 connection with the 
performance of this Agreement to the ex tent permitted b y law, including the N orth Carolina T ort Claims Act 
(Article 31 of Chapter 143 of the N orth Carolina G eneral Statutes) . This Agreement is intended for the sole and 
exclusive benefit of the Par ties . This Agreement does no t crea te, and shall no t be construed as creating, any rights 
enforceable by any person no t a party to this Agreement. N othing herein shall be construed as a waiver of th e 
sovereign immunity of the State o f N orth Carolina. 

13. SEVERABILITY: 

a. G enerally. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to conflict with any law, or regulation, or rule o f the United 
States, o r the State of N orth Carolina, o r NCDST. The Parties agree that if a term o f this Agreement cannot 
be interpreted in a way to be consistent with such authority, then that term shall be deemed invalid , but the 
remaining terms and conditio ns o f this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

b. Federal Reimbursem ent. The Parties expressly agree that they intend for this Agreement to co nstitute and be 
construed as a loan agreement, toward the end that all loan proceeds provided to RE CIPIENT hereunder 
would remain eligible for reimbursement under th e FEI\tlA Public Assistance Program, N ational Flood 
Insurance Program, or o ther federal reimbursement program (generally, for purposes o f this subsection, the 
"Federal Funding Programs"). The Parties further agree that: (i) no provision o f this Agreement shall be 
construed as creating o r co ntemplating a current or future condition or circumstance that would in any way 
alleviate RECIPIENT o f the repayment obligations set forth in thi s Agreement, or in the related Promissory 
N o te; and (ii) to the ex tent that any word, phrase, clause, sentence, or term o f this Agreement is deemed 
inco ngruous with any relevant provision(s) o f federal law pertaining to RECIPIENT's eligibility for 
reimbursement under the Federal Funding Program(s), then such word, phrase, clause, sentence or term shall 
be modified, deleted, o r interpreted in such a manner as to make the loan fund s provided to RECIPIENT 
hereunder fully reimbursable under the Federal Funding Program(s), or else reimbursable to the maximum 
extent allowable under such program (s). 

5of10 

State Cashflow Loan s for Disaste r Response Activiti es to Local Go vernrr1 cnts 

040125 BCC Meeting

85



14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT: 

This Agreement and any annexes, exhibits, and amendments appended hereto , and any documents incorporated 
specifically by reference, represent the entire Agreement between the Parties and supersede all prior oral and 
written statements or Agreements. 

15. SURVIVAL: 

The foll owing sections shall survive termination o f this Agreement: 3.c., 5, 6, 7, 8, 12 and 13. 

16. EXECUTION AND EFFECTIVE DATE: 

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each o f which shall be deemed an original but all o f which shall 
constitute one and the same instrument. One o r more counterparts o f this Agreement may be delivered by 
facsimile or in Adobe Portable D ocument Format (PDF) sent by electronic m ail, with such delivery having th e 
same effect as delivery of an o riginal counterpart. Signatures provided by fac simile transmission, in PDF sent by 
electronic mail, o r by electronic signature such as D ocuSign, shall be deemed to be o riginal signatures. 

This Agreement shaU become effective upon the E ffective D ate and N CDST's loan obligations shall commence 
upon N CDST's receipt o f the items se t forth in 3.a. above. 

[signature page fo llows] 

6of10 

Stace Cas hflo \v Loans fo r Disas te r Response Activities to Local Gove rnn1e nts 

040125 BCC Meeting

86



19. AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE WARRANTY: 

The undersigned represent and warrant that they are authorized to bind their principals to the terms o f this 
Agreement. 

In Witness Whereof, RECIPIENT and the State of N" orth Carolina, acting by and through the N CDST have 
executed this Agreement in duplicate originals, with one original being retained by each party. 

COUNTY OF WATAUGA, NORTH CAROLINA 

AUTHORIZIN G OFFICIAL D ate 

Printed Name Title 

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA, by: 

NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF STATE TREASURER 

AUTHORIZING OFFICIAL D ate 

Jeffrey A. Poley Director of Disaster Services and Rural Economic Development 

7 of 10 

State Cashflow L oans for Disaster Response Activities to Local Governments 

040125 BCC Meeting

87



ATTACHMENT A 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE NORTH CAROLINA CASHFLOW LOAN AGREEMENT AND 
PROMISSORY NOTE 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, in connection with the State o f North Carolina cashflow loan program (Loan Program) authorized by 
the Disas ter Recovery f\ct of 2024, Sess ion Law 2024-53 (as amended by Sessio n Law 2024-57), the N orth Carolina 
D epartment o f State T reas urer has been working with the N orth Carolina D epartment o f Public Safety-Division of 
E mergency Management (NCE.M) , the N orth Carolina Association o f Coun ty Commissioners (NCACC), and the 
N orth Carolina League o f Municipalities (.NCLM) to formulate a working plan for the disbursement o f cashflow loans 
aimed at assisting local governments affected by Hurricane Helene; and 

WHEREAS, local governments wishing to participate in the Loan Program are required to execute a Cashflow Loan 
Agreement and Promi ssory N o te with the State o f North Carolina, by and through the North Carolina D epartment 
o f the State Treasurer; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNTY OF WATAUGA, NORTH CAROLINA: 

1. That the Cash fl ow Loan Agreement and Promissory Note provided by the North Carolina D epartment of the State 
Treasurer are hereby approved. 

2. That the Manager, Clerk, or Authorized Representative o f a T ribal G overnment is authorized to execute the attached 
agreements (or those substantially equivalent th ereto) and such o ther agreements and actions as necessary to receive 
di sas ter recovery loan funding from the State of North Carolina. 

;\dopted, this the ____ day of _________________ _ 

COUNTY O F WATAU GA, N ORTH CAROLIN A 

By:--------------
Mayor/ Commissioner/ Authorized Representative 

N an1e: ------------------~ 

Title: 

ATTE ST: 

T own Clerk / Authori zed Representati ve 

N ame: 

Title: 

State Cas hflo\1.: Loans for Disas ter Response Activities to Local Governn1c nts 

8 of 10 

040125 BCC Meeting

88



ATTACHMENT B 

This Promissory Note has been pre-audited as required by the 
Local Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act 

PROMISSORY NOTE 

Finance O fficer 

Loan N umber: Helene5194R1000000000 
Loan Amount: $895,477.60 

The County of Watauga, North Carolina ("BORROWER") DOES HE REBY unco nditionally promise to 
pay to the STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA (by and through the North Carolina Department of State Treasurer) 
("State") the following Loan Amo unt: $895,477.60 The promissory note is made in accordance with the related Loan 
Agreement, dated as the date hereof (the "Agreement"), between the State and the BORROWE R. As set forth in the 
Agreement, the BORROWER hereby promises to pay the Loan Amount in accordance to the following schedule: 

• $1 the first anniversary of the Loan Date 
• 10% of the Loan Round Amount on June 30, 2027 
• 20% of the Loan Round Amount on June 30, 2028 
• 30% of the Loan Round Amount on June 30, 2029 
• 40% (less $1) of the Loan Round Amount on the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the Loan 

Date recited in the Agreement or June 30, 2030. 

Payment instructions will follow from the State or its agent. 

This Promissory Note and the Agreement were duly authorized by action o f the BORROWE R's governing body at 
a meeting duly held on ________________ _ 

COUNTY OF WATAUGA, NORTH CAROLINA 

Signature 

[Name and Title] 

[SEAL] 

Attes t: 

Signature 

[Name and Title- sho uld be clerk] 

9 of 10 

State Cas hflo\v Loans for Disas ter Res ponse Activities to Local Governments 

040125 BCC Meeting

89



ATTACHMENT C 

NORTH CAROLINA 
DEPARTMENT OF STATE TREASURER 

BRAD FORD B. BRINER 
STATE TREASURER OF NORTH CAROLINA 

FINANCIAL OPERATIONS DIVISION 

Hurricane Helene Cash Flow Loan Program Wire Form 
uest10ns concerning t e comp et1on o t IS orm s OU e 1recte to - I -Q h 1 f h ~ h ld b d d 919 8 14 3902 

RECIPIENT INFORMATION 

Recipient/Account Holder 's Name: 

Recipi ent 's Address , City, State, Zip: 

lnfonnation for the Recipient (optional): 

BENEFICIARY BANK INFORMATION 

Beneficiary Bank Name: 

Beneficiary Bank Routing Transit Number (RTN): 

Beneficiary Bank Account Number: 

Bank 's Address, City, State, Zip: 

lnfonnation for the Beneficiary Bank, if app licable: 

I certify the recipient inf01mation and beneficiary bank information provided above is true and conect. and I am authorized 
to act in the capacity indicated and to transact business on the account listed above. Only original signatures accepted; no 
electronic signatures. 

Recip ient Official's Printed Name Signature 

Phone# Date 

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY 

Financial Opera tions Division 

US Doll ar Wire Amount: $895,477.60 Contract/Reference #: Helene5194R1000000000 

Date Wire Processed: 

3200 Atlantic Avenue• Raleigh, North Carolina 27604 

Courier #56-20-45 • Telephone: (919) 814-4000 • 

Fax: (919) 855-5809 www.NCTreasurer.com 

Sta te Cas hflow Loans for Disaster Response Activities to Local Governrnents 

10 of 10 

040125 BCC Meeting

90



AGENDA ITEM 10: 

MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
D. Proposed Amendment to SDR Contract 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
SDR, the County’s contractor for right-of-way debris removal, is requesting an increase in the not 
to exceed amount of their contract from $2 million to $3.8 million.    
 
Board approval is required to grant the increase of $1.8 million in the not to exceed amount to 
SDR’s contract  
 
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

91



 

 
93 Sonia Drive, Greer, SC 29650       Office 864-469-9776    Fax 864-469-9642 

www.gosdr.com 
 
 

 

 
Notice to Proceed Update 

 
This Contract Amendment, made and entered into this ___ th day of  
April_, 2025, by and between Watauga County, NC hereinafter termed the “Owner”, and 
Southern Disaster Recovery, LLC,(SDR) hereinafter termed the “Contractor”. 
 
WITNESSETH            
  
WHEREAS, due to the devastating effects of Hurricane Helene, the Owner issued a 
Notice to Proceed (NTP) to the Contractor on the 3rd of October 2024 consistent with the 
North Carolina Department of Public Safety contract for Disaster Debris Removal 
Services. 
 
WHEREAS, the Not to Exceed mechanism was placed in the contract for elected and 
senior appointed official visibility on the project and  
 
WHEREAS, the initial SDR Not to Exceed amount is $2,000,000.00 and    
 
WHEREAS, SDR right of way work in Watauga County is nearing completion 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, the 
parties hereby agree as follows: 
 

1. Increase the Not to Exceed amount by $1,800,000.00 in order to complete the 
County’s right of way debris removal.  

 
All other terms and conditions of the original Contract Agreement remain unchanged. 
                 
 
WATAUGA COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA  SOUTHERN DISASTER RECOVERY, LLC 
 
 
By:  __________________________                By:  __________________________ 
 
Title: _________________________                Title: _________________________ 
 
Date:  ________________________                Date:  ________________________ 

040125 BCC Meeting

92

http://www.southerndr.com/


AGENDA ITEM 10: 

MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
E. Public Hearing Request to Allow Citizen Comment on the Potential Repealing of the 

Fire Appendices  

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Per commissioner request, a public hearing has been scheduled for May 6, 2025 to allow for citizen 
comment on the potential to repeal the fire appendices.   
 
Board action is required to schedule a public hearing on May 6, 2025 to allow for citizen comment 
on the potential to repeal the fire appendices.   
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

93



040125 BCC Meeting

94



040125 BCC Meeting

95



040125 BCC Meeting

96



040125 BCC Meeting

97



040125 BCC Meeting

98



040125 BCC Meeting

99



040125 BCC Meeting

100



040125 BCC Meeting

101



040125 BCC Meeting

102



040125 BCC Meeting

103



040125 BCC Meeting

104



040125 BCC Meeting

105



040125 BCC Meeting

106



040125 BCC Meeting

107



040125 BCC Meeting

108



040125 BCC Meeting

109



040125 BCC Meeting

110



040125 BCC Meeting

111



040125 BCC Meeting

112



040125 BCC Meeting

113



040125 BCC Meeting

114



040125 BCC Meeting

115



040125 BCC Meeting

116



040125 BCC Meeting

117



040125 BCC Meeting

118



040125 BCC Meeting

119



040125 BCC Meeting

120



040125 BCC Meeting

121



040125 BCC Meeting

122



040125 BCC Meeting

123



040125 BCC Meeting

124



040125 BCC Meeting

125



040125 BCC Meeting

126



040125 BCC Meeting

127



040125 BCC Meeting

128



040125 BCC Meeting

129



040125 BCC Meeting

130



040125 BCC Meeting

131



040125 BCC Meeting

132



040125 BCC Meeting

133



040125 BCC Meeting

134



040125 BCC Meeting

135



040125 BCC Meeting

136



040125 BCC Meeting

137



Blank Page 
 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

138



AGENDA ITEM 10: 

MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
F. April Meeting Schedule 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Due to the upcoming holiday, the Manager recommends cancelling the second meeting in April.  
Should a meeting be necessary, a Special Called meeting could be scheduled.   
 
Board action is required to cancel the April 15, 2025 meeting.   
 
 
 
  

040125 BCC Meeting

139



Blank Page 
 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

140



AGENDA ITEM 10: 

MISCELLANEOUS ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
G. Announcements 

MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 
 
Caldwell Community College and Technical Institute (CCC&TI) invites the Board to attend their 
60th Anniversary Sunset Celebration on Tuesday, April 29, 2025 from 5:00 to 7:00 P.M. at the 
Watauga Campus Student Services Center located on Community College Drive, Boone.  Anita 
will be happy to RSVP on your behalf. 
 
The UNC School of Government will present an Ethics for Elected Officials course via Zoom on 
Thursday, May 22, 2025, from 10:00 A.M. to 12:00 P.M.  The course will be live and will be 
broadcast in the Commissioners’ Board Room.  The course is required to be taken by all 
Commissioners by December 2025.  A group registration will be done for those who plan to attend 
in the Board Room and separate registrations will be done for those who will need to view it from 
a different location.  Please let Anita know if you can attend.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM 11: 

BREAK 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

141



040125 BCC Meeting

142



Ethics for Elected Officials

Online - Click here to register for this course offering

May 22, 2025


Overview


Register


Discounts &

Scholarships


Materials


Contact

This training will be held live on 5/22/25, online via Zoom, from 10am to

12pm.

Group discounts are not offered for the on-demand version.

Under North Carolina law, members of governing boards of cities, counties,

local boards of education, unified governments, sanitary districts, and

consolidated city-counties are required to receive at least two (2) clock hours

of ethics training within twelve months after each election or appointment to

office. The ethics training requirement is an ongoing obligation, triggered by

each subsequent re-election or reappointment to office.       

This online training will satisfy the 2 clock hours of local ethics training

required by state law for elected and appointed officials. This training MUST be

completed within 12 months of election day and is required every time they

are re-elected or appointed and reappointed to a local office. 

See further instructions below and in the Preparation Checklist. 

Is your board attorney or a member of your board who is an attorney

watching the webinar? The NC State Bar requires attorneys who wish to

claim CLE (Continuing Legal Education) credit to purchase the webinar

3/10/25, 12:12 PM Ethics for Elected Officials | UNC School of Government

https://www.sog.unc.edu/courses/ethics-elected-officials 1/7

040125 BCC Meeting

143



separately in their name. The attorney must self-report to the State Bar

for CLE credit.   

What you need to know before you purchase:

A. If multiple incumbent board members need to receive their ethics training,

you all should register via the group rates. Have your clerk or manager register

you all as a group in a single transaction. If you need assistance,

contact registration@sog.unc.edu.

B. Who this training does NOT cover: 

Individuals serving on state boards subject to the State Government Ethics Act

(SGEA): Local elected officials who also serve on a state board that is subject to

the State Government Ethics Act (SGEA), including local community college

boards, are required to take ethics training that is offered through the State

Ethics Commission. The SOG ethics-training program for local elected officials

does NOT satisfy the state ethics training, and the state ethics training

does NOT satisfy the local elected official ethics-training which is offered

through this page. Consequently, local elected officials who also serve on a

state board subject to the SGEA, must take both the state and the local ethics

training programs.  Officials who need to complete state ethics training should:

Contact their board's ethics liaison for training, or

Complete the online training available on State Board of Elections and

Ethics Enforcement (formerly the State Ethics Commission)

website: ethics.ncsbe.gov/education/eduOnline

Local ABC Boards: For individuals who serve on a local ABC board, separate

training is required. The SOG ethics training program for local elected officials

does NOT satisfy the local ABC Board training, and the local ABC Board training

does NOT satisfy the local elected officials ethic training. Here is the link to the

webinar page for local ABC Boards.

School Boards: Please contact the NC School Boards Association for further

information.

C. Board notice of a public meeting:

Boards are advised to give public notice of a special meeting for ethics training

sessions if a majority of the board might be in attendance at the event. This is

in keeping with the spirit of the ethics law, and out of an abundance of caution

3/10/25, 12:12 PM Ethics for Elected Officials | UNC School of Government

https://www.sog.unc.edu/courses/ethics-elected-officials 2/7

040125 BCC Meeting

144

mailto:registration@sog.unc.edu
http://ethics.ncsbe.gov/education/eduOnline.aspx
https://www.sog.unc.edu/courses/webinars/ethics-training-abc-boards
https://www.ncsba.org/


concerning the legal requirements for board meetings.

Purchasing the Webinar 

A. Who should purchase from your unit:

If you want to receive the group rate, have your clerk or manager register

everyone in a single transaction.  

Is your board attorney or a member of your board who is an attorney

watching the webinar? The NC State Bar requires attorneys who wish to

claim CLE (Continuing Legal Education) credit to purchase the webinar

separately in their name, and to self-report to the State Bard for CLE

credit. 

Do you have to purchase the webinars for each person watching from

your board?  Yes.   

Adding no-reply@sog.unc.edu and lrich@sog.unc.edu to your contacts

will increase the chance of the email getting through. 

Issues with purchasing? Simply email our registration department directly

at registration@sog.unc.edu for issues with the registration/purchase process,

passwords, or logging in. Provide your phone number and brief summary of

your issue and someone from that department will contact you shortly. This is

the fastest way to get assistance as there are multiple people in that

department who can respond to you quickly.

LELA Level: This is a 101 Level course in the Local Elected Leaders Academy.

Participating elected officials will earn 2 credits toward their Practitioner

recognition certificate.

LEAD FACULTY

3/10/25, 12:12 PM Ethics for Elected Officials | UNC School of Government

https://www.sog.unc.edu/courses/ethics-elected-officials 3/7

040125 BCC Meeting

145

mailto:no-reply@sog.unc.edu
mailto:lrich@sog.unc.edu
mailto:registration@sog.unc.edu


AGENDA ITEM 12: 

CLOSED SESSION 
Attorney/Client Matters per, G. S. 143-318.11(a)(3) 
Land Acquisition per, G. S. 143-318.11(a)(5)(i) 
 

040125 BCC Meeting

146


	Approval of Minutes
	Tentative Agenda and Meeting Notice
	Approval of the April 1, 2025, Agenda
	Public Comment
	Library Matters
	A.  Proposed Proclamation for National Library Week
	B.  Library Renovation Report
	C.  Proposed Capital Project Ordinance for Library Renovation Project

	Proposed Change Order for Complex Fencing Repairs
	Proposed Resolution In Support of North Carolina Senate Bill 248
	Emergency Services Matters
	A.  Request for Public Saftey Radio System Civil, Tower, & Construction Work
	B.  Hurricane Helene Update

	Tax Management Associates, Inc., Business Personal Property Audit Services Contract
	Miscellaneous Administrative Matters
	A.  Proposed Valle Crucis School Change Order # 5
	B.  Resolution to Partner with The Town of Boone Establishing a Bridge to Link County and Town Properties Located at Brookshire Park and Ted Mackorell Soccer Comples
	C.  Resolution to Approve North Carolina Cashflow Loan Agreement and Promissory Note
	D.  Proposed Amendment to SDR Contract
	E.  Public Hearing Request to Allow Citizen Comment on the Potential Repealing of the Fire Appendices
	F.  April Meeting Schedule
	G.  Announcements

	Break
	Closed Session



